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NovaStar Financial, Inc. was founded in 1996 as

a specialty finance lender to invest in mortgage

assets. NovaStar’s assets are primarily generated

from the wholesale origination of single-family

subprime loans by its subsidiary, NovaStar

Mortgage, Inc. NovaStar originates and services

mortgage loans and structures long-term

financing for its investment in mortgage assets.

NovaStar has also developed re l a t i o n s h i p s

with other mortgage loan investors to sell

mortgage loans.

During 2000, NovaStar developed a net 

branch operation under the name NovaStar

Home Mortgage, Inc. Mortgage loan brokers 

a re employed by NovaStar Home Mortgage.

NovaStar provides licenses for the branches 

and performs accounting and human resource

functions in exchange for a fee on every loan

originated. NovaStar Home has 72 branch 

offices located in 30 states.

NovaStar Financial elects to operate as a real

estate investment trust (REIT). As long as

NovaStar Financial maintains its REIT status,

c o r p o rate-level income taxes are not paid.

NovaStar is headquartered in Westwood, Kansas,

part of the metropolitan Kansas City area. The

Company’s servicing operation is located at its

Westwood office. NovaStar Mortgage operates 

a centralized marketing, underwriting and 

funding operation in Orange County,California.

Account executives are located throughout the

lower-48 states and market loan products

through a nationwide network of unaffiliated

wholesale loan broke r s .

NovaStar Financial and Mortgage have a staff of

more than 250 professionals. NovaStar Home

Mortgage employees nearly 300 in its branches.

NovaStar National Sales Fo rc e

NovaStar Inside Sales Repre s e n t a t i v e s

NovaStar Operational Fa c i l i t y

NovaStar Home Mortgage Branches 

NovaStar Headquarters  

NovaStar?

w h o  i s
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Securitization 

of $165 Million in 

Subprime Loans
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with First Union
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“Above Average”
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$50 Million Warehouse  
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Net Branches in operation

total 60 with 4th quarter

volume of $143 million

NovaStar records net

income of $5.6 million 

or 50¢ per share
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To Our Share h o l d e r s :

2000 was a good year for NovaStar. We made

p r o g ress in all major operating segments of our

business. First, and foremost, we were profitable.

NovaStar made $0.50 per share, with $0.40 of

that coming in the last six months. We started the

process of rebuilding our investment portfolio 

and increasing loan production. We put over 

$20 million dollars to work in 2000 and expect to

invest another $40 million in 2001. We incre a s e d

production by more than 50% compared to last

year. Our projections show another year of strong

growth in 2001.

NovaStar continues to be a leader in technology

with the use of its proprietary automated under-

writing system, Internet Underwriter
®

(“IU”). 

Our customer’s use of IU has grown dra m a t i c a l l y

since its initial release in October 1999. During

that first month we received 100 submissions.

Subsequently, we listened to our sales forc e ,

underwriters and customers and enhanced IU to

give our broker/customers the best answer for their

borrower. In January 2001, NovaStar Mortgage

had more than 8,000 submissions through IU.

During 2000, NovaStar drove down its cost to

originate a loan. We still have more work left. Our

“all-in” cost to originate a loan (including what we

pay our broker / customer) averaged approximately

3.50%. By the fourth quarter of 2001, we expect

our cost to be approximately 3.00%. Over the

subsequent two years, we expect our cost to drop

to approximately 2.50%.

We expect 2001 to present many risks and

opportunities. Some investors and analysts

have expressed concerns about 2001 because 

of higher c redit risk re s u l t i n g

from an economic slowdown

or recession. We started

thinking about that risk thre e

years ago and decided that

mortgage insurance helps to
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s h a re h o l d e r s

insulate NovaStar from credit risk. More than 

70% of loans in our investment portfolio have

deep mortgage insurance. We expect all new loan

originations to have mortgage insurance.

The recent decline in interest rates has already

forced some of our competitors to write-down 

the value of their investment portfolios. NovaStar,

by contrast, values its portfolio very conserva-

tively. Prepayment penalties in our loan prod-

ucts deter fast prepayments and there f o re

lengthen the life of our loans, which creates 

a higher returning investment.

Our net branch business, operated through

NovaStar Home Mortgage, Inc. (“NHMI”), 

will become more visible during 2001. Our net

branch business is a fee income business where

NHMI provides a set of services to a mortgage broke r

that include licensing, administra t i v e / a c c o u n t i n g

support, whole loan investors to acquire the bro-

kered loans and other value-added services. 

Our goal is to help our net branch be as 

successful as possible in their job as a broke r .

NHMI receives a fee on every loan broke re d ,

whether it comes to NovaStar Mortgage or not. 

However, the branches are very good customers

of our mortgage banking operation. This natura l

synergy is one of the most attractive parts of the

net branch business. NHMI had 60 net bra n c h e s

at the end of 2000. We expect that number to be

100 or more by the end of 2001.

We would like to thank all of the employees, 

business partners and investors who have helped

m a ke 2000 a good year. We believe that your s u p-

port and confidence in our business plan will be

re w a rded with even better performance in 2001.

Scott F. Hartman

Chairman and Founder

W. Lance Anderson

President and Founder

l e t t e r  t o  t h e



The non-conforming finance business community

s u f f e red through months of upheaval beginning in

the second half of 1998. Many competitors did

not survive the turmoil caused when capital and

financing resources dried up. Even into 2000,

members of the community departed as they were

forced into bankruptcy or were sold to stave off

c reditors. While NovaStar Financial, Inc. was not

exempted from the effects of those market forc e s ,

it has managed through those times and, today,

is in its strongest financial position ever.

S t rategically, NovaStar is well positioned to

become a non-conforming finance leader.

As a result of the events of 1998, NovaStar

rethought its lending strategy. Lending guidelines

w e re modified to increase the credit quality of

the loans produced by NovaStar Mortgage, Inc.

Costs were reduced and fewer loans were produced.

Prior to 1999, NovaStar retained all loans it

produced. During 1999, NovaStar sought partners

to acquire much of the loan production, cre a t i n g

a balance between retaining loans in portfolio and

selling loans for cash. In 1999, NovaStar began

investing in technology to make our production

o p e ration more efficient and provide tools for

our customers to process loans more effectively.

4

perspective
h i s t o r i c a l
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In 2000, NovaStar profited from this reposi-

tioning. NovaStar Financial, Inc. reported net

income of $5.6 million, or $0.50 per share .

These results were achieved through carrying out

the strategy outlined in 1999. NovaStar Mortgage

produced more loans and at lower costs. In 2000,

6,266 loans were produced with an aggre g a t e

principal of $719 million – a 59% i n c rease compare d

to production in 1999. The all-in net cost of

production – principal, broker premiums paid

and general and administrative costs less u n d e r-

writing fee income – was nearly 105% in 1999.

In 2000, this cost was reduced to 103.4%.

Of the $824 million in loans available for sale in

2000 (loans produced plus those in warehouse at

the beginning of the year), NovaStar sold 21% or

$173 million to third parties. The average sales

price of these loans was 104.2%. In contra s t ,

during 1999 NovaStar sold 59% of the loans

available for sale at an average price of 104.1%.

Prices have remained stable as NovaStar’s volume

i n c reases and costs decline.

During 2000, NovaStar pooled $570 million in

loans in two separate asset-backed securitizations.

While these transactions were structured, for

accounting purposes, as loan sales, NovaStar

Mortgage retained the servicing rights to the

loans. NovaStar Financial retains the subord i n a t e d

classes of these securitized assets. The re t a i n e d

securities are AAA-rated interest-only and other

s u b o rdinated classes and provide substantial

f u t u re earnings potential for NovaStar. 

NovaStar Mortgage services all securitized loans.

Total loans in the servicing portfolio increased

from $895 million on January 1 to $1.1 billion

on December 31.

l e n d i n g  t h e  w a y  

t o  a  b r i g h t e r  f u t u r e

2000
p e r f o r m a n c e
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The number of non-conforming lenders and

specialty finance companies has declined dra-

matically since the end of 1998. While there 

are fewer lenders, the competition for loans is

intense. Lenders fight vigorously for each loan.

B r o kers – the initial NovaStar customer – 

continue to focus on competitive pricing, flexible

guidelines and quality service. NovaStar is posi-

tioned to compete in this environment with 

a lean cost infra s t r u c t u re, excellent service 

s t a n d a rds and cutting edge technology.

The marketplace has been good for our business.

Loan prices have steadily, but slowly, incre a s e d

since the beginning of 1999. The market for the

types of loans produced by NovaStar is consistent,

thus providing a stable outlet for loan production

as a compliment to our securitization strategy. 

l a n d s c a p e

c o m p e t i t i v e
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In 1999, NovaStar Financial developed Internet

Underwriter
®

– “IU.” Through IU, within min-

utes a mortgage loan broker can get a complete

underwriting decision on a loan file, price and

rate lock the loan and submit it to NovaStar f o r

funding. IU gives the broker the ability to corre c t

any discrepancies on the borrower's credit report

and run various loan scenarios to ensure the best

approval for the borrower. This technology is

the most sophisticated facility available to non-

conforming mortgage broke r s .

Today more than 95% of the loans received by

NovaStar are submitted via IU. Not only does

this provide a significant competitive tool for

NovaStar, it helps to reduce the cost of origination

as fewer manual processes are involved with the

loan submission process.

During 2000, NovaStar developed a net bra n c h

product using the name NovaStar Home Mortgage.

Loan brokers/officers can open a branch facility

under the NovaStar Home Mortgage name.

NovaStar provides a license, loan investors 

and administrative services to the bra n c h .

A d m i n i s t rative services include accounting,

payroll and human resource support. Branch

management must adhere to lending policies

established by NovaStar Home Mortgage. Net

b ranch income – broker fee income less bra n c h

expenses and the administrative fees paid to

NovaStar Home Mortgage – are profits earned

by the branch manager.

While the branch is free to broker loans to any

approved investor, many of the loans produced

by NovaStar net branches are funded by NovaStar

Mortgage. This arrangement provides a tight

relationship between the broker, operating as a

NovaStar branch, and NovaStar Mortgage as the

lender. In addition, fees generated are projected

to be a significant form of revenue for NovaStar.

At the beginning of 2000, NovaStar had four

branches open. Now there are more than 70

b ranches in operation located in 30 states.

t e c h n o l ogy

b ra n c h i n g

2 0 0 0

n e t
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NovaStar Financial continues to maintain 

a consistent strategy in the near term.

During 2001 we expect to:

• i n c rease production of quality non-conforming

loans by adding account executives in new marke t s ,

• lower the cost of loans produced through

improvement in systems and internal processes,

• invest available equity and expand the portfolio

of mortgage assets under management,

• expand the net branch business generating

additional fee income and incre a s e d

production and

• manage risks inherent in our business and industry.

Loan production will increase as NovaStar

Mortgage continues to hire quality sales personnel.

We began 2000 with 47 account executives and

ended the year with 85. We will also continue

to focus on the use of technology to incre a s e

loan volume. Our branch network will also add

additional fee income and increased production.

Costs of production continue to be a prime focus

for NovaStar management. Each dollar “saved” 

on loan production serves to increase the earnings

potential of NovaStar as a whole. The cost of 

production will decrease, on a per loan basis, as

we fund more loans. In addition, we expect to

i n c rease the percentage of applications that re s u l t

in loan closings – our “pull-through” ra t e .

position
s t r a t e g i c
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The key risks in our business continue to be

credit (evidenced by the rate of default on our

mortgage loans), liquidity (cash available to

continue funding operations) and genera l

m a r ket risks (primarily associated with the

changing i n t e rest rate environment). NovaStar 

has purchased mortgage insurance for losses on

defaulted mortgages to significantly reduce cre d i t

e x p o s u re . To address liquidity needs, NovaStar

maintains committed lending facilities and has

significant cash availability under these facilities.

The nature of our loan products, combined with

our interest rate hedging programs, mitigates the

affect of changing interest rates. NovaStar has a

well-managed risk-reduction program that bal-

ances the money spent with the benefits re c e i v e d .

p o t e n t i a l

We have developed an efficient infrastructure

to produce earnings in 2001 and beyond.

NovaStar has solid balance sheet strength to 

support the finance of mortgage loans produced 

by NovaStar Mortgage. NovaStar Mortgage is a

well-managed, low-cost mortgage lender with

substantial credibility in the non-conforming

community. We are on track to increase pro-

duction, assets and shareholder earnings.

g r o w t h

m a i n t a i n i n g  a  

c l e a r  v a n t a g e  p o i n t

m a n a g e m e n t

r i s k
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D i r e c t o r s

Scott Hartman

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Lance Anderson

President and Chief Operating Officer

G reg Barmore

Former Chairman of GE Capital Mortgage Corp.

Ed Mehre r

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of CyDex, Inc.
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Angela Gard i n e r

Senior Vice President — Net Branching

Annette Glary

Vice President — Human Resources

Steven Landes

Vice President — Net Branching
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Scott Hartman
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Ray Norris

Senior Vice President — Information Systems

Larry Crisp

Vice President — Operations Manager

Holt Crowder

Vice President — Central Region Sales Manager

Beverly Dillingham

Vice President — Sales Support Manager

David Fa r r i s

Vice President — Portfolio Manager

Ed Fi n n e g a n

Vice President — Northeast Region Sales Manager

Annette Glary

Vice President — Human Resources

Susan Johnson
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Kelly Meinders

Vice President — Securitization

Jeff Nelson

Vice President — Northwest Region Sales Manager

Dave Pa z g a n

Vice President — Mid-Ohio/Southeast Region Sales Manager

Ronda Roscoe

Vice President — Customer Service

John Schra d e r

Vice President — Midwest Region Sales Manager

Rodney Schwatke n

Vice President, Treasurer and Controller

m a n a g e m e n t

2 0 0 0
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For the Year Ended December 31, For the Period Ended

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data 2000 1999 1998 1997 December 31, 1996

Interest income $ 47,627 $ 66,713 $ 100,747 $ 36,961 $ 155
Interest expense 34,696 46,758 80,794 28,185 —
Net interest income 12,931 19,955 19,953 8,776 155
Provision for credit losses 5,449 22,078 7,430 2,453 —
Equity in net income (loss) – NFI Holding 1,123 88 (2,984) 28 —
Gain (loss) on sales of mortgage assets (826) 351 (14,962) 51 —
General and administrative expenses 3,017 3,590 4,379 3,451 457
Net income (loss) 5,626 (7,092) (21,821) (1,135) (302)
Basic income (loss) per share 0.51 (1.08) (2.71) (0.26) (0.08)
Diluted income (loss) per share 0.50 (1.08) (2.71) (0.26) (0.08)

As of December 31,

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Mortgage Assets:

Mortgage loans $ 375,927 $ 620,406 $ 945,798 $574,984 $ —
Mortgage securities 46,650 6,775 — 517,246 13,239
Total assets 494,482 689,427 997,754 1,126,252 59,811
Borrowings 382,437 586,868 891,944 1,002,560 —
Stockholders’ equity 107,919 100,161 82,808 116,489 46,380

As of or for the

As of or for the Year Ended Period Ended

December 31, December 31,

Other Data 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Loans originated by NovaStar Mortgage, Inc.:

Principal at purchase $ 719,341 $ 452,554 $ 878,871 $409,974 $ —
Average principal balance per loan $ 115 $ 101 $ 94 $ 130 —
Weighted average interest rate:

Adjustable rate mortgage loans 10.6% 9.9% 10.0% 10.1% —
Fixed rate mortgage loans 10.5% 10.0% 9.9% — —
Loans with prepayment penalties 90% 90% 74% 73% —
Weighted average prepayment period (in years) 3.0 3.2 2.4 2.4 —

Annualized return on assets 0.97% (0.83)% (1.66)% (0.01)% (0.50)%
Annualized return on equity 5.50% (6.71)% (20.71)% (0.06)% (0.65)%
Taxable income (loss) $ — $ — $ (2,628) $ 1,434 $ (173)
Taxable income (loss) per share $ — $ — $ (0.32) $ 0.18 $ (0.05)
Dividends declared per common share $ — $ — $ 1.00 $ 0.28 $ —
Dividends declared per preferred share $ 0.49 $ 0.37 $ — $ 0.18 $ —
Number of account executives 85 47 63 36 —

The following selected consolidated financial data are derived

from the audited consolidated financial statements of NovaStar

Financial for the periods presented and should be read in

conjunction with the more detailed information therein and

“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations” included elsewhere in this annual

report. Operating results are not necessarily indicative of future

performance.

Selected Consolidated Financial and Other Data

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)
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Safe Harbor Statement 

“Safe Harbor” statement under the Private Securities

Litigation Reform Act of 1995: Statements in this discussion

regarding NovaStar Financial, Inc. and its business, which are

not historical facts, are “forward-looking statements” that

involve risks and uncertainties. Certain matters discussed in this

annual report may constitute forward-looking statements within

the meaning of the federal securities laws that inherently include

certain risks and uncertainties. Actual results and the time of

certain events could differ materially from those projected in or

contemplated by the forward-looking statements due to a

number of factors, including general economic conditions,

fluctuations in interest rates, fluctuations in prepayment speeds,

fluctuations in losses due to defaults on mortgage loans, the

availability of non-conforming residential mortgage loans, the

availability and access to financing and liquidity resources, and

other risk factors outlined in the annual report on Form 10-K

for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000. Other factors not

presently identified may also cause actual results to differ.

Management continuously updates and revises these estimates

and assumptions based on actual conditions experienced. It is

not practicable to publish all revisions and, as a result, no one

should assume that results projected in or contemplated by the

forward-looking statements will continue to be accurate in the

future. Risks and uncertainties, which could cause results to

differ from those discussed in the forward-looking statements

herein, are listed in the “Risk Management” section of the

annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended

December 31, 2000. 

Basis of Presentation 

NovaStar Financial owns 100% of the common stock of

NovaStar Assets Corporation, NovaStar Certificates Financing

Corporation and NovaStar Mortgage Funding Corporation.

These entities were established as special purpose entities used in

the issuance of asset-backed bonds. The consolidated financial

statements of NovaStar Financial include the financial condition

and results of operations of these entities. 

On December 31, 2000, NovaStar Financial also owned

100% of the non-voting preferred stock of NFI Holding

Corporation. Scott Hartman and Lance Anderson, the founders

of NovaStar Financial, owned the voting common stock of NFI

Holding. NovaStar Mortgage, Inc., NovaStar Capital and

NovaStar Home Mortgage, Inc. are wholly owned subsidiaries of

NFI Holding. NovaStar Mortgage Funding Corporation II,

NovaStar Mortgage Funding Corporation III and NovaStar

REMIC Financing Corporation are subsidiaries of NovaStar

Mortgage. The businesses of NovaStar Mortgage and NovaStar

Home Mortgage are discussed in “Description of Business –

Business of NovaStar Mortgage” and “Business of NovaStar

Home Mortgage.” NovaStar Capital was formed to focus on

acquiring non-conforming residential mortgage loans from

banks, thrifts and credit unions. In February 2000, NovaStar

Capital discontinued operations. NovaStar Home Mortgage was

created in May 1999 to operate a network of mortgage brokers. 

A significant component of the financial results of NovaStar

Financial is the operations of NovaStar Mortgage, Inc. and

NovaStar Home Mortgage, Inc. Key officers of NovaStar

Financial also serve as officers of NFI Holding, NovaStar

Mortgage, NovaStar Capital, Inc and NovaStar Home Mortgage,

Inc. The founders are the only members of the Board of

Directors of NFI Holding, NovaStar Mortgage, NovaStar Capital

and NovaStar Home Mortgage, Inc. NovaStar Mortgage owns

100% of NovaStar Mortgage Funding Corporation II, NovaStar

Mortgage Funding Corporation III and NovaStar REMIC

Financing Corporation. These special purpose entities were

created for the issuance of interests in real estate mortgage

investment conduits commonly known as REMICs. NovaStar

Financial accounts for its investment in NFI Holding using the

equity method, meaning the operations of NFI Holding are

not consolidated with NovaStar Financial.

Recent Developments 

Federal Tax Legislation. Effective January 1, 2001, Real Estate

Investment Trusts (REITs) are allowed to own directly all of the

stock of taxable subsidiaries beginning in the tax year 2001. The

value of all taxable subsidiaries of a REIT must be limited to

20% of the total value of the REIT’s assets. Accordingly,

NovaStar Financial acquired all of the common stock of NFI

Holding Corporation from Scott Hartman and Lance Anderson

on January 1, 2001. As a result, NFI Holding became a wholly-

owned consolidated subsidiary of NovaStar Financial. This

transaction and pro forma balance sheet of NovaStar Financial

are presented in more detail in Notes 8 and 14 to the consoli-

dated financial statements.

Also, effective beginning with the 2001 tax year, the minimum

dividend distributions of a REIT must equal at least 90% of tax-

able income, down from 95% of taxable income under current

law. These and other federal tax legislation changes and propos-

als are discussed further in NovaStar Financial’s Annual Report

on Form 10K under “Federal Income Tax Consequences”.

Description of Business 

Business of NovaStar Financial: 

• Founded in 1996 as a specialty finance lender to invest in

mortgage assets; 

• Assets have primarily come from the wholesale origination of

nonconforming, single-family, residential mortgage loans and

the purchase of AAA-rated interest-only and subordinated

securities from the securitization transactions of NovaStar

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of NovaStar Financial

and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this report.
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Mortgage, its affiliate; 

• Operates as a long-term portfolio investor; 

• Long-term financing is provided through securitization where

asset-backed bonds are issued in financing-structured and sale

transactions; 

• Earnings are generated from spread income on the mortgage

loan and securities portfolio and indirectly by gains associated

with the sale of loans to outside parties or through securitiza-

tion transactions of NovaStar Mortgage. 

Business of NovaStar Mortgage: 

• Primary customer is the retail mortgage broker who deals with

the borrower. NovaStar Mortgage’s account executives work

with more than 5,000 brokers to solicit loans. 

• Borrowers generally are individuals or families who do not

qualify for agency/conventional lending programs because of a

lack of available documentation or previous credit difficulties.

Often, these borrowers have built up high-rate consumer debt

and are attempting to use equity in their home to consolidate

debt and lower their total monthly payments. 

• Loans are financed on a short-term basis through warehouse

and repurchase facilities. Loans are sold in securitization

transactions where asset-backed bonds are issued or sold to

affiliates or third parties for cash.

Business of NovaStar Home Mortgage:

• Retail mortgage brokers and their staffs operate under the

NovaStar Home Mortgage name and are employees of

NovaStar Home Mortgage.

• Branches operate under a strict set of policies established by

NovaStar Home Mortgage.

• Branch can broker loans to any investor approved by NovaStar

Home Mortgage, including NovaStar Mortgage, Inc.

• Net operating income for the branch is returned as compensa-

tion to the branch “owner/manager.”

• Fees, based on all loan volume, are paid to NovaStar Home

Mortgage for license and investor management and account-

ing and payroll services.

• As of December 31, 2000, there were 60 active branches in 27

states operating under the NovaStar Home Mortgage name.

Financial Condition of NovaStar Financial, Inc.

as of December 31, 2000 and December 31, 1999 

NovaStar Financial’s balance sheets consist primarily of secu-

ritized mortgage loans originated by and purchased from

NovaStar Mortgage, which serve as collateral for asset-backed

bonds. The carrying value of mortgage loans as of December 31,

2000 was $376 million versus $620 million as of December 31,

1999. The carrying value of asset-backed bonds as of December

31, 2000 was $357 million compared with $587 million as of

December 31, 1999. The decline in both balance sheet items is

primarily a result of principal paydowns that occurred during

2000. Even though NovaStar Financial is no longer purchasing

the loans originated from NovaStar Mortgage, NovaStar

Financial has increased its mortgage asset portfolio by purchas-

ing the AAA-rated interest-only and subordinated securities of

NovaStar Mortgage’s securitization transactions. The carrying

value of these securities was $47 million as of December 31,

2000 compared with $7 million as of December 31, 1999.

Mortgage loans collateralizing the AAA-rated interest-only and

subordinated securities totaled $654 million as of December 31,

2000 compared with $143 million as of December 31, 1999

bringing the total principal balance of mortgage assets managed

by NovaStar Financial to $1 billion as of December 31, 2000

compared to $762 million as of December 31, 1999.

Mortgage Loans. Table 1 is a presentation of loans as of December

31, 2000 and 1999 and their credit grades. Table 2 is a summary

of all mortgage loans owned by NovaStar Financial as of

December 31, 2000 and 1999 by state. These tables also provide

details regarding the collateral outstanding on NovaStar

Mortgage’s REMIC transactions, in which NovaStar Financial

owns AAA-rated interest-only and subordinated securities. The

REMIC transactions are discussed further in the “Mortgage

Loans—Available for Sale” and “Mortgage Loans Sales” sections

of this document.
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Table 1 Mortgage Loans by Credit Grade 

(dollars in thousands) December 31,

2000 1999

Weighted Weighted

Allowed Maximum Weighted Average Weighted Average

Mortgage Loan- Current Average Loan- Current Average Loan-

Lates (A) to-value Principal Coupon value Principal Coupon value

Retained loans collateralizing asset-backed bonds:

AA 0 x 30 95 $ 56,463 10.17% 82.6% $ 85,476 9.50% 83.2%
A 1 x 30 90 152,621 10.66 79.4 244,187 10.06 80.1
A- 2 x 30 90 88,617 11.30 81.7 149,248 10.45 81.8
B 3 x 30,1x 60 85 51,001 11.80 78.1 89,477 10.86 78.4
C 5 x 30, 2 x 60,1 x 90 75 22,902 12.30 72.8 42,766 11.35 72.5
D 6 x 30,3 x 60,2 x 90 65 4,268 13.13 63.8 7,668 12.16 62.1
Total on balance sheet 375,872 11.02 79.7 618,822 10.31 80.0
Sold loans collateralizing asset- backed bonds:

AAA 0 x 30 97 (B) 143,673 9.71 80.9 3,474 9.18 80.7
AA 0 x 30 95 175,068 10.25 83.5 27,236 9.47 84.8
A 1 x 30 90 130,237 10.54 81.2 43,119 9.86 83.1
A- 2 x 30 90 86,660 10.65 81.3 35,311 10.09 83.1
B 3 x 30,1x 60 85 44,487 11.16 79.3 19,612 10.59 79.7
C 5 x 30,2 x 60,1 x 90 75 18,398 11.69 70.1 11,405 11.09 71.9
D 6 x 30, 3 x 60,2 x 90 65 1,568 12.69 61.6 3,171 12.16 62.1
Other Varies 97 53,958 11.44 92.7 — — —

Total off balance sheet 654,049 10.45 82.2 143,328 10.08 81.5
Total managed mortgage loans $ 1,029,921 10.66% 81.3% $ 762,150 10.27% 80.3%

(A) Represents the number of times a prospective borrower is allowed to be late more than 30, 60 or 90 days. For instance, a 3x30, 1x60 category

would afford the prospective borrower to be more than 30 days late on three separate occasions and 60 days late no more than one time. 

(B) 97% on fixed-rate purchases; all other maximum of 95%. 

Table 2 Mortgage Loans by State Percent of Portfolio

(based on current principal balance) Retained loans collateralizing Sold loans collateralizing

asset-backed asset-backed

bonds—on balance sheet bonds—off balance sheet

December 31, December 31,

Collateral Location 2000 1999 2000 1999
Florida 16% 14% 15% 21%
California 15 16 10 7
Washington 6 7 5 4
Texas 5 5 3 6
Nevada 4 4 6 4
Oregon 4 5 2 1
Tennessee 4 3 6 5
Michigan 3 3 9 5
Ohio 3 3 6 4
All other states 40 40 38 43

Total 100% 100% 100% 100%
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Table 3 provides a summary of NovaStar Financial’s mortgage loans by type and carrying value as of December 31, 2000 and 1999.

Table 3 Carrying Value of Loans by Product/Type

(dollars in thousands) December 31,

Product/Type 2000 1999

Retained loans collateralizing asset-backed bonds—on balance sheet:

Two and three-year fixed $ 166,627 $ 343,193
Six-month LIBOR and one-year CMT 23,428 43,178
30/15-year fixed and other 185,817 232,451

Outstanding principal 375,872 618,822
Premium 7,745 12,689
Allowance for credit losses (7,690) ( 1 1 , 1 0 5)

Carrying Value $ 375,927 $ 620,406

Carrying value as a percent of principal 100.01% 100.26%

Sold loans collateralizing asset-backed bonds—off balance sheet:

Two and three-year fixed $ 465,976 $ 78,238
Six-month LIBOR and one-year CMT 2,492 5,052
30/15-year fixed and other 185,581 60,038

Outstanding principal $ 654,049 $ 143,328

Mortgage securities retained $ 46,650 $ 6,775

Substantially all mortgage loans are acquired at a premium.

Premiums are amortized as a reduction of interest income over

the lives of the assets. See Tables 4, 5, and 6 for the impact of

principal payments on amortization. To mitigate the effect of

prepayments on interest income from mortgage loans, NovaStar

Financial generally strives to acquire mortgage loans that have

prepayment penalties. During the year ended December 31,

2000, prepayment penalties collected from borrowers totaled

$1.8 million in comparison with $3.1 million during 1999.

Table 4 is an analysis of mortgage loans and prepayment penalties. 
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Table 4 Mortgage Loan Prepayment Penalties

(dollars in thousands) Weighted Average

Remaining

Percent with Prepayment

Current Prepayment Loan-to- Period (in years)

Principal Premium Penalty Coupon value Loans with Penalty

As of December 31, 2000

Retained loans collateralizing asset-backed bonds:

NHES 1997-1 $ 52,282 $ 2,494 25% 11.80% 74.5% 0.30
NHES 1997-2 53,727 1,040 16 11.55 79.6 0.28
NHES 1998-1 114,367 1,877 33 11.03 80.6 0.46
NHES 1998-2 155,376 2,328 60 10.57 80.9 0.85

All other loans 120 6 33 10.85 71.5 0.81

Total on balance sheet 375,872 7,745 40 11.02 79.7 0.57

Sold loans collateralizing asset- backed bonds (A):

NMFT 1999-1 103,968 — 64 10.66 81.6 1.23
NMFT 2000-1 (B) 216,216 — 94 10.18 81.1 2.43
NMFT 2000-2 (C) 333,865 — 90 10.57 83.2 2.49

Total off balance sheet 654,049 — 87 10.45 82.2 2.27

Total managed mortgage loans $ 1,029,921 $ 7,745 70% 10.66% 81.3% 1.65
As of December 31, 1999

Retained loans collateralizing asset-backed bonds:

NHES 1997-1 $ 85,015 $ 3,942 32% 11.04% 75.5% 0.51
NHES 1997-2 101,031 1,917 35 10.90 79.3 0.55
NHES 1998-1 195,170 3,205 63 10.08 81.1 0.93
NHES 1998-2 237,223 3,606 74 9.97 81.1 1.51
All other loans 383 19 6 11.96 77.6 0.10

Total on balance sheet 618,822 12,689 58 10.31 80.0 1.03
Sold loans collateralizing asset-backed bonds (A):

Off balance sheet NMFT 1999-1 143,328 — 84 10.08 81.5 2.03

Total managed mortgage loans $ 762,150 $ 12,689 63% 10.27% 80.3% 1.22

(A) NovaStar Financial owns asset-backed bonds. The mortgage loans are not retained on the balance sheet of NovaStar Financial.

(B) The AAA-rated interest-only and subordinated securities of NMFT 2000-1 were purchased by NovaStar Financial April 1, 2000.

(C) The AAA-rated interest-only and subordinated securities of NMFT 2000-2 were purchased by NovaStar Financial September 29, 2000.

In periods of decreasing interest rates, borrowers are more

likely to refinance their mortgages to obtain a better interest

rate. Even in rising rate environments, borrowers tend to repay

their mortgage principal balances earlier than is required by the

terms of their mortgages. Non-conforming borrowers, as they

update their credit rating, are more likely to refinance their

mortgage loan to obtain a lower interest rate. 

Prepayment rates in Table 5 represent the annualized princi-

pal prepayment rate in the most recent one, three and twelve

month periods and over the life of the pool of loans.
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Table 5 Prepayment Speeds 

(dollars in thousands) Weighted

Average Age Constant Prepayment Rate

Current of Loans at (Annual Percent)

Principal Inception One- Three- Twelve-

Issue Date Balance (in months) month month month Life

December 31, 2000

Retained loans collateralizing asset-backed bonds:

NHES 1997-1 October 1, 1997 $  52,282 7 20 29 38 39
NHES 1997-2 December 11, 1997 53,727 3 54 52 45 36
NHES 1998-1 April 30, 1998 114,367 3 46 38 41 30
NHES 1998-2 August 18, 1998 155,376 3 21 32 32 24

Sold loans collateralizing asset- backed bonds:

NMFT 1999-1 January 29, 1999 $ 103,968 5 37 38 28 21
NMFT 2000-1 March 31, 2000 216,216 2 11 10 — 8
NMFT 2000-2 September 28, 2000 333,865 1 5 5 — 5

December 31, 1999

Retained loans collateralizing asset-backed bonds:

NHES 1997-1 October 1, 1997 $ 85,015 7 44 42 50 40
NHES 1997-2 December 11, 1997 101,031 3 64 58 42 32
NHES 1998-1 April 30, 1998 195,170 3 47 36 29 23
NHES 1998-2 August 18, 1998 237,223 3 26 21 21 18

Sold loans collateralizing asset- backed bonds:

NMFT 1999-1 January 29, 1999 $143,328 5 14 20 14 14

Table 6 details the amount of premium as a percent of principal

at quarter end for 2000 and 1999. 

Table 6 Premium as a Percent of Principal

Mortgage

Loans

December 31, 2000............................................ 2.06%

September 30, 2000 .......................................... 2.05
June 30, 2000.................................................. 2.03
March 31, 2000 ................................................ 2.05
December 31, 1999 ............................................ 2.05
September 30, 1999............................................ 2.09
June 30, 1999 .................................................. 2.15
March 31, 1999.................................................. 2.22

Mortgage-Backed Securities - Available-For-Sale. NovaStar Financial

owns the subordinated securities of the NovaStar Mortgage

Funding Trust Series 1999-1, 2000-1 and 2000-2. As the

owner of these securities, NovaStar Financial receives the net

cash flow of the NovaStar Mortgage Funding Trust Series asset-

backed bonds, which represent the right to receive, over the life

of the securitizations, the excess of the interest earned on the

mortgage loan collateral over the sum of the interest paid on the

bonds, a servicing fee, a trustee fee, mortgage insurance premi-

ums and the credit losses relating to the securitized loans. As of

December 31, 2000 and 1999, the carrying value of the inter-

est-only and subordinated securities was $46.7 million and $6.8

million. These values represent the present value of the securi-

ties’ cashflows that NovaStar Financial expects to receive over the

life of the securitizations, taking into consideration estimated

prepayment speeds and credit losses, and is discounted at a rate

which management believes is an appropriate risk-adjusted mar-

ket rate of return for the subordinated asset. The cashflows are

realized over the life of the securitizations as cash distributions

received from the trusts. NovaStar Financial believes its AAA-

rated interest-only and subordinated securities are fairly valued

as of December 31, 2000, but can provide no assurance that

future prepayment and loss experience or changes in the

required discount rate will not require write-downs of the asset.

Write-downs would reduce the income of future periods and

could cause NovaStar Financial to report net losses. 

Key statistics, assumptions and characteristics of the NovaStar

Mortgage Funding Trust Series mortgage loan collateral and

bonds as of December 31, 2000 and 1999 are included in the

Tables 1 through 5 of this document and Note 4 to the consoli-

dated financial statements.

NovaStar Mortgage originated and securitized the loans serv-

ing as collateral in NMFT 1999-1, 2000-1 and 2000-2. Upon

securitization, NovaStar Mortgage recognized gains on the

transfer of the loans. Details of these transactions are provided

in “Mortgage Loan Sales.”
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Assets Acquired through Foreclosure. As of December 31, 2000,

NovaStar Financial had 154 properties in real estate owned with

a carrying value of $13.1 million (principal of $14.5 million)

compared to 192 properties with a carrying value of $16.9 mil-

lion (principal of $24.4 million) as of December 31, 1999. 

Short-term and Long-term Financing Arrangements. NovaStar Mortgage

funds loans with various financing facilities prior to securitiza-

tion. Loans are funded initially using committed warehouse

lines with First Union National Bank or Residential Funding

C o r p o ration (RFC) under which NovaStar Financial and NovaStar

Mortgage are co-borrowers. NovaStar Financial and NovaStar

Mortgage can borrow up to $75 million from First Union and

$50 million from RFC under these warehouse agre e m e n t s .

NovaStar Financial and NovaStar Mortgage also use re p u rc h a s e

a g reements as a means of warehousing loans prior to securitiza-

tion. First Union provides a $175 million committed facility for

this purpose. These First Union and RFC facilities are committed

through July 27, 2001 and December 27, 2001, re s p e c t i v e l y .

First Union also provides a $25 million facility secured by

subordinated interests in asset-backed bonds that is committed

through December 17, 2001. Amounts outstanding as of

December 31, 2000 under this financing arrangement were

$25.0 million. 

Amounts outstanding under short-term financing arrange-

ments as of December 31, 2000 are detailed in Table 27 of this

document and Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. 

On a long-term basis, NovaStar Financial has financed its

mortgage loans using asset-backed bonds (ABB). Investors in

ABB are repaid based on the performance of the mortgage loans

collateralizing the ABB. These non-recourse financing arrange-

ments match the loans with the financing arrangement for long

periods of time, as compared to repurchase agreements that

mature frequently with interest rates that reset frequently and

have liquidity risk in the form of margin calls. Under the terms

of its ABB, NovaStar Financial is entitled to repurchase the

mortgage loan collateral and repay the remaining ABB when

their aggregate principal balance falls below 35% for issue 97-01

and 25% for issues 97-02, 98-01 and 98-02. Non-conforming

mortgage loans are not readily obtainable financial assets. As a

result, NovaStar Financial retains effective control over the

transferred assets as defined in paragraph 9c. of Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 125, Accounting for

Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities and

further clarified by paragraph 30 of SFAS No. 125. Accordingly,

NovaStar Financial records its ABB transactions as secured bor-

rowings, rather than sales of the transferred loans.

The securitization transactions executed by NovaStar Mortgage

have been structured as sales for financial reporting and tax 

purposes. NovaStar Financial as the owner of AAA - rated intere s t -

only and subordinated securities does not have an option to call

these bonds in the future. However, NovaStar Mortgage, as servicer

of the collateral of these transactions, holds a “clean up” call.

Under its ABB, NovaStar Financial retains the mortgage loans

and incurs the obligation to pay the ABB bondholders. NovaStar

Financial earns the net spread between the interest income on

the loans and the interest expense on the bonds. The spread

earned also is reduced by credit losses on the portfolio.

Prepayments on the mortgage loans serve to reduce the term

over which interest spread is earned. The longer the mortgage

collateral is outstanding, the longer the period of cash flow. To

the extent the borrowers prepay, it shortens the life of the ABB

and the period over which cash flow is received. The cash flow

will change when interest rates on the bonds fluctuate at

amounts or times that are different from the mortgage loan col-

lateral, thereby subjecting NovaStar Financial to interest rate

risk. The carrying value of ABB as of December 31, 2000 was

$357 million compared with $587 million as of December 31,

1999. The decline in carrying value is primarily a result of prin-

cipal paydowns. 

Further details regarding NovaStar Financial’s short-term and

long-term borrowing arrangements are located in Note 4 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Stockholders’ Equity. The increase in NovaStar Financial’s stock-

holders’ equity as of December 31, 2000 compared to

December 31, 1999 is a result of the following:

• $5.6 million increase due to net income recognized in 2000.

• $5.7 million decrease as a result of common stock purchases.

NovaStar Financial’s Board of Directors amended its stock pur-

chase program to increase the amount of common stock author-

ized to be acquired up to an aggregate purchase price of $9 mil-

lion. Stock purchases may be made in the open market, in block

purchase transactions, through put options or through privately

negotiated transactions. The timing of purchases and the num-

ber of shares ultimately purchased will depend upon market

conditions and corporate requirements. As of December 31,

2000, NovaStar Financial had purchased 2,050,166 shares of its

common stock. The number of shares purchased by NovaStar

Financial has increased to 2,427,120 through March 6, 2001 at

an aggregate purchase price of $7.9 million.

• $9.9 million increase in the unrealized gain on the interest-

only and subordinated securities in NovaStar Mortgage’s asset

backed bond transactions that for tax and accounting purposes

were treated by NovaStar Mortgage as sales. The interest-only

and subordinated assets in those transactions have been classified

as available-for-sale securities and the unrealized gain is recog-

nized as a component of accumulated other comprehensive

income. 

• $2.1 million decrease due to dividends on Class B 7% cumu-

lative convertible preferred stock in 2000.

Notes Receivable from Founders. The founders of NovaStar

Financial purchased 216,666 units in the 1996 private place-

ment in exchange for forgivable promissory notes. A unit con-

sisted of one share of convertible preferred stock and one com-

mon stock warrant. Principal on these notes was divided into

three equal parts, called “tranches”, and was forgiven if certain

incentive performance targets were achieved. The incentive tests
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related to the return generated to investors in the private place-

ment, including the appreciation in stock price, the value of the

warrants, and dividends paid. 

During the period from the closing of the private placement

through December 31, 1997, NovaStar Financial’s stock price

averaged $17.08 per share, dividends of $0.28 were declared

and the value of each warrant was $2.08. The combination of

these produced a return to investors in the private placement

exceeding 15%. As a result, the first tranche of these notes was

forgiven resulting in a non-cash charge of $1,083,000 during

the fourth quarter of 1997. NovaStar Financial has not recog-

nized any further forgiveness of the notes since 1997, as incen-

tive performance targets have not been met. 

In March 1998, the founders exercised options to acquire

289,332 shares of common stock by executing notes payable to

NovaStar Financial. The notes bear interest at one month

LIBOR plus 1%, are collateralized by the common stock issued,

and are non-recourse in nature which means that NovaStar

Financial’s recourse is limited to the collateral. These notes and

accrued interest are classified as part of the contra-equity

account, notes receivable from founders. 

In 1999, NovaStar Financial advanced $584,000 to the

founders for the payment of their personal tax liability arising

from the 1997 forgiveness referred to above and advanced

$70,000 in order for the founders to inject capital into NFI

Holding Corporation. The carrying value of these notes was

$6,374,000 and $6,284,000 as of December 31, 2000 and

1999, respectively. 

On January 1, 2001, these notes were restructured into new

non-recourse, non-interest bearing promissory notes that are to

be forgiven in equal installments over a 10 year period as long as

the founders remain employed by NovaStar Financial as of

December 31. All of the notes will be forgiven in the event of a

change in control. Further details regarding the original and

restructured notes are discussed in Note 8 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Results of Operations of NovaStar Financial,

Inc.—Year Ended December 31, 2000 Compared

to the Year Ended December 31, 1999 

Net Income

During the year ended December 31, 2000, NovaStar Fi n a n c i a l

re c o rded net income of $5.6 million, $0.50 per diluted common

s h a re, compared with a net loss of $7.1 million, $1.08 per diluted

common share, for the year ended December 31, 1999.

NovaStar Financial’s primary sources of revenue are interest

earned on its securitized mortgage loan portfolio and prepay-

ment penalty income. In addition, results indirectly reflect gains

from the sale of whole loans to third parties and securitization

transactions executed by NovaStar Mortgage. 

Net Interest Income

Table 7 presents a summary of the average intere s t - e a r n i n g

assets, average interest-bearing liabilities and the related yields and

rates thereon for the year ended December 31, 2000 and 1999.



20

N ovaStar Financial, I n c.
a nn u a l  r e p o r t  2000

Table 7 Interest Analysis 

(dollars in thousands) 

Year ended December 31, 2000 Mortgage Loans Mortgage-Backed Securities Total

Interest Annual Interest Annual Interest Annual

Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/

Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate

Interest-earning mortgage assets $446,874 $44,676 10.00% $17,839 $2,951 16.54% $464,713 $47,627 10.25%
Interest-bearing liabilities

Asset-backed bonds 471,991 33,960 7.20 — — — 471,991 33,960 7.20
Other borrowings — — — 8,993 732 8.14 8,993 732 8.14
Cost of derivative financial

instruments hedging liabilities 4 — — 4

Total borrowings $471,991 $33,964 7.20% $ 8,993 $ 732 8.14% $480,984 $34,696 7.21%
Net interest income $10,712 $2,219 $12,931
Net interest spread 2.80% 8.40% 3.04%
Net yield 2.40% 12.44% 2.78%

Year ended December 31, 1999 Mortgage Loans Mortgage-Backed Securities Total

Interest Annual Interest Annual Interest Annual

Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/

Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate

Interest-earning mortgage assets $709,371 $66,324 9.35% $ 2,357 $   389 16.50% $711,728 $66,713 9.37%
Interest-bearing liabilities

Asset-backed bonds 785,547 43,963 5.60 — — — 785,547 43,963 5.60
Other borrowings 4,206 541 12.86 — — — 4,206 541 12.86
Cost of derivative financial

instruments hedging liabilities 2,254 2,254

Total borrowings $789,753 $46,758 5.92% $ — $ — —% $789,753 $46,758 5.92%
Net interest income $19,566 $ 389 $19,955
Net interest spread 3.43% 16.50% 3.45%
Net yield 2.76% 16.50% 2.80%

Interest Income. During 2000, mortgage loans earned $44.7 mil-

lion, or a yield of 10.0%, compared with $66.3 million, or a

yield of 9.4% for the same period in 1999. Mortgage-backed

securities income for 2000 consists of earnings from AAA-rated

interest-only and subordinated securities that NovaStar Financial

purchased from NovaStar Mortgage starting in September 1999.

In total, assets earned $47.6 million, or a yield of 10.3% for

the year ended December 31, 2000. During the same period

of 1999, assets earned $66.7 million or a 9.4% yield. As noted

in Table 7, interest income is a function of volume and rates.

Increasing the volume of assets will cause future increases in

interest income, while declining balances will reduce interest

income. Market interest rates will also affect future

interest income. 

Interest Expense. The cost of borrowed funds for mortgage loans

was $34.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2000, or

7.2% of average borrowings compared with $46.8 million, or

5.9% for the same period of 1999. Mortgage-backed securities’

cost of borrowed funds for the year ended December 31, 2000

includes repurchase agreements secured by interest-only and

subordinated securities executed during the second, third and

fourth quarters of 2000. Average interest-bearing liabilities for

the year ended December 31, 2000 also consisted of financing

costs on asset-backed bonds compared with the same period of

1999, which also included a short-term financing arrangement

with GMAC/RFC secured by subordinated assets in NovaStar

Financial’s ABB. In 1998, NovaStar Financial borrowed $15 mil-

lion from GMAC/RFC, which included a $3 million financing

fee. In February 1999, NovaStar Financial used the First Union

subordinated asset facility to pay this debt in full. In March

1999, proceeds from the convertible preferred stock offering

repaid all the outstanding debt on the subordinated asset facility. 

NovaStar Financial’s asset-backed bonds are indexed to

LIBOR. During the year ended December 31, 2000, one-month

LIBOR averaged 6.41% compared with 5.25% for same period of

1999. Because the Fe d e ral Reserve Board increased the targeted

f e d e ral funds interest rate in the latter part of 1999, effective bor-

rowing costs were higher in 2000. As with interest income, the

cost of funds in the future will largely depend on market condi-

tions, most notably levels of short-term interest rates. Rates on

other borrowings generally fluctuate with short-term marke t

i n t e rest rates, such as LIBOR or the federal funds rate. 

Net Interest Income and Spread. Net interest income on mortgage

loans for the year ended December 31, 2000 was $10.7 million,

or 2.4% of average interest-earning mortgage loans, compared

with $19.6 million, or 2.8% for the same period of 1999. Net

interest spread on mortgage loans was 2.8% and 3.4%, respec-

tively, for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999. Net

interest income on mortgage-backed securities during the year
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ended December 31, 2000 was $2.2 million, or 12.4% of aver-

age interest-earning mortgage securities with a net interest

spread of 8.4%. The volume of assets and liabilities and how

well the spread between earnings on assets and the cost of funds

is managed will dictate future net interest income. 

Impact of Interest Rate Agreements. NovaStar Financial has entered

into interest rate agreements designed to mitigate exposure to

interest rate risk. Interest rate cap agreements require NovaStar

Financial to pay a monthly fixed premium while allowing it to

receive a rate that adjusts with LIBOR, when rates rise above a

certain agreed-upon rate. These agreements are used to alter, in

effect, the interest rates on funding costs to more closely match

the yield on interest-earning assets. 

As part of the NMFT 2000-1 asset-backed bond transaction

discussed under “Mortgage Securities—Available-For-Sale” and

“Mortgage Loan Sales” sections of this document, NovaStar

Financial sold a cap with a carrying value of $480,000 to

NovaStar Mortgage recognizing a deferred gain of $880,000.

The cap was hedging liabilities incurred to fund the mortgage

loans sold to NMFT 2000-1 and the deferred gain will be

amortized over the remaining cap term. This cap had a remain-

ing deferred gain of $376,000 as of December 31, 2000. 

During the year ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, net

interest expense incurred on hedging agreements was $4,000

and $2.3 million, respectively, which is included as a compo-

nent of interest expense. The significant decline in this expense

in 2000 compared with the same period of 1999 is a result of

the majority of the caps’ quarterly LIBOR resets in 2000 were

greater than their strike rates.

Prepayment Penalty Income 

During the year ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, 90% of

the mortgage loans originated by NovaStar Mortgage had pre-

payment penalties. As of December 31, 2000, 40% of NovaStar

Financial’s mortgage loan portfolio had prepayment penalties

compared with 58% as of December 31, 1999. Prepayment

penalties totaled $1.8 million during the year ended December

31, 2000 compared with $3.1 million for the same period of

1999. The decrease is due to NovaStar Financial no longer pur-

chasing loans from NovaStar Mortgage, seasoning of the portfo-

lio and prepayment penalty windows expiring in 2000 com-

pared with 1999.

Premiums for Mortgage Loan Insurance

NovaStar Financial and NovaStar Mortgage have executed

agreements whereby lender-paid mortgage insurance coverage is

purchased on selected mortgage loans. The use of mortgage

insurance is one method of managing the credit risk in the

mortgage asset portfolio. 

As of December 31, 2000 and 1999, approximately 72% and

39% of the loans owned by NovaStar Financial are covered

under this agreement, including loans serving as collateral for

the REMIC deals. The loans collateralizing REMIC deals are not

recorded as loans of NovaStar Financial, but the performance of

NovaStar’s investment in the AAA-rated interest-only and sub-

ordinated securities of the REMIC deals is dependent on the

credit losses of the underlying collateral.

Premiums for mortgage insurance on loans maintained on the

balance sheet of NovaStar Financial are recorded as a portfolio

cost and included in the income statement under the caption

“Premiums for Mortgage Loan Insurance.” During the year

ended December 31, 2000, total premiums paid by NovaStar

Financial totaled $1.3 million compared with $1.7 million for

the same period of 1999. Premiums for mortgage insurance on

loans serving as collateral for the subordinated interests owned

by NovaStar Financial is paid from the loan collateral proceeds,

and therefore are not included in the amount of total premiums

paid as shown above.

Provisions for Credit Losses 

NovaStar Financial owns loans where the borrower possesses

credit risk higher than that of conforming borrowers.

Delinquent loans and losses are expected to occur. Most of the

loans owned by NovaStar Financial were underwritten and fund-

ed by NovaStar Mortgage. All loans owned by NovaStar Financial

are serviced by NovaStar Mortgage. NovaStar Mortgage uses sev-

eral techniques to mitigate credit losses, including pre-funding

audits by quality control personnel and in-depth appraisal

reviews. Another loss mitigation technique allows a borrower to

sell their property for less than the outstanding loan balance

prior to foreclosure in transactions known as short sales, when it

is believed that the resulting loss is less than what would be real-

ized through foreclosure. While short sales serve to reduce the

overall severity of losses incurred, they also accelerate the timing

of losses. Loans are charged off in full when the cost of pursuing

foreclosure and liquidation exceed recorded balances.

Management also believes aggressive servicing is an important

element to managing credit risk.

As discussed further under the caption “Premiums for

Mortgage Loan Insurance”, lender paid mortgage insurance is

also used as a means of managing credit risk exposure.

Generally, the exposure to credit loss on insured loans is con-

sidered minimal. 

Provisions for credit losses are made in amounts considered

necessary to maintain the allowance at a level sufficient to cover

probable losses inherent in the loan portfolio. Charge-offs are

recognized at the time of foreclosure by recording the value of

real estate owned property at its estimated realizable value.

Subsequent gains or losses on dispositions, if any, are recorded

in operations. The net gains or losses recognized on real estate

owned properties are discussed further under “Other Income”.

One of the principal methods used to estimate expected losses is

a delinquency migration analysis. This analysis takes into con-

sideration historical information regarding foreclosure and loss

severity experience and applies that information to the portfolio

at the reporting date.

During the year ended December 31, 2000, NovaStar

Financial made provisions for losses of $5.4 million and

incurred net charge-offs of $8.9 million, compared to $22.1

million and $14.5 million during 1999. Charge-offs during
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2000 include $803,000 resulting from short sale transactions

and loans charged off in full compared with $1.9 million during

the same period of 1999.

In the opinion of management, the allowance for credit losses

as of December 31, 2000 is adequate to cover losses inherent in

the portfolio at that date. If losses do not develop in accordance

with current expectations, future provisions will be increased or

decreased as necessary.  Management also believes that internal

processes involving quality control, appraisal review and servic-

ing that have been made as a result of experience to-date will

result in lower losses being incurred on loans currently being

originated.

Table 8 presents the activity in the allowance for credit losses

during 2000 and 1999. 

Table 8 Allowance for Credit Losses 

(in thousands)

2000 1999

December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31 December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31

Beginning balance $ 8,132 $ 8,993 $ 9,763 $ 11,105 $ 5,370 $ 3,573 $ 3,492 $ 3,573
Provision for credit losses 1,445 1,212 1,213 1,579 10,579 5,634 3,566 2,299
Amounts charged off, net

of recoveries (1,887) (2,073) (1,983) (2,921) (4,844) (3,837) (3,485) (2,380)
Ending Balance $ 7,690 $ 8,132 $ 8,993 $ 9,763 $ 11,105 $ 5,370 $ 3,573 $ 3,492

The following tables provide details re g a rding the delinquencies, defaults, and loss statistics of NovaStar Financial’s mortgage loan portfolio.

Table 9 Loan Delinquencies (90 days and greater) (A)

(in thousands)

2000 1999

December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31 December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31

Mortgage loans Collateralizing

NovaStar Home Equity Series

(ABB):

1997-1 Issued October 1,1997 $ 3,480 $ 3,410 $ 4,039 $ 3,434 $ 4,726 $ 6,093 $ 6,087 $ 6,454

1997-2 Issued December 11,1997 3,319 5,222 6,336 6,311 6,047 5,934 5,671 8,388

1998-1 Issued April 30,1998 7,322 8,131 6,455 5,987 8,467 11,411 9,687 11,818

1998-2 Issued August 18,1998 11,443 10,621 11,159 11,433 12,754 10,247 10,808 10,832

(A) Includes loans in foreclosure or bankruptcy.

Table 10 Loan Delinquencies (90 days and greater) as a Percent of Total Loan Principal(A) 2000 and 1999

2000 1999

December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31 December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31

Mortgage loans Collateralizing

NovaStar Home Equity Series

(ABB):

1997-1 Issued October 1,1997 6.68% 6.01% 6.21% 4.59% 5.63% 6.32% 5.13% 4.37%

1997-2 Issued December 11,1997 6.29 8.23 8.88 7.66 6.24 4.92 4.03 5.38

1998-1 Issued April 30,1998 6.54 6.44 4.40 3.58 4.42 5.32 4.13 4.64

1998-2 Issued August 18,1998 7.17 6.03 5.48 5.10 5.38 4.06 3.94 3.72

(A) Includes loans in foreclosure or bankruptcy.
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Table 11 Delinquencies, Defaults and Losses

(dollars in thousands)

NovaStar Home Equity Series

December 31, 2000 1997-1 1997-2 1998-1 1998-2 All Loans

Allowance for Credit Losses:

Balance, January 1, 2000 $ 2,335 $ 2,861 $ 4,214 $ 1,685 $ 11,105
Provision for credit losses 1,014 873 1,773 1,786 5,446
Amounts charged off, net of recoveries (1,221) (2,322) (2,972) (2,346) (8,861)
Balance, December 31, 2000 $ 2,128 $ 1,412 $ 3,015 $ 1,125 $ 7,680

Defaults as a percent of loan balance:

Delinquent loans (A) 10.06 % 9.20% 9.59% 9.43% 9.55%

Loans in foreclosure 5.05 5.06 4.62 4.88 4.86

Real estate owned 1.58 5.02 3.15 4.73 3.86

Cumulative losses $ 4,470 $ 4,272 $ 4,672 $ 3,112

December 31, 1999

Allowance for Credit Losses:

Balance, January 1, 1999 $ 816 $ 1,049 $ 1,163 $ 346 $ 3,573
Provision for credit losses 4,317 5,436 8,194 4,065 22,078
Amounts charged off, net of recoveries (2,798) (3,624) (5,143) (2,726) (14,546)
Balance, December 31, 1999 $ 2,335 $ 2,861 $ 4,214 $ 1,685 $ 11,105

Defaults as a percent of loan balance:

Delinquent loans (A) 8.03% 9.89% 6.38% 7.50% 7.63%

Loans in foreclosure 4.73 4.32 3.75 4.02 4.09

Real estate owned 3.85 4.88 3.61 2.62 3.51

Cumulative losses $ 2,377 $ 1,756 $ 538 $ 745

(A) Loans delinquent 30 days or greater 

Loan Servicing Fees Paid to NovaStar Mortgage, Inc. 

Loan servicing fees paid to NovaStar Mortgage, Inc. include

the 50 basis point fee charged by NovaStar Mortgage for servic-

ing the loans owned by NovaStar Financial serving as collateral

on ABB. The fee charged is based on the loan principal balance

of the mortgage loans serviced. Loan servicing fees for 2000

were $2.5 million compared with $3.9 million for the same

period of 1999. The decrease is due to principal paydowns

between the two periods.

Net Fees for Other Services Provided by NFI Holding

Corporation

The net fees for other services provided by NFI Holding

Corporation during 2000 and 1999 are further detailed in Note

12 to the consolidated financial statements. The significant

increase in these fees for the year ended December 31, 2000

compared with 1999 is due to a composition change in the inter-

company agreements between NovaStar Financial and NFI

Holding as discussed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Other Income

Other income during the year ended December 31, 2000 pri-

marily consists of net losses recognized on the sale of real estate

owned properties of $826,000 compared with net gains on the

sale of real estate owned properties of $351,000 during the same

period of 1999. The net losses recognized in 2000 resulted

from the liquidation of aged properties with slightly higher

severities than Novastar Financial’s historical average severity.

Other income for the year ended December 31, 2000 also con-

sists of interest earned on securitization funds held in trust of

$234,000 and interest earned on money market funds of

$148,000. Other income for the same period of 1999 also

included interest earned on notes receivable from founders of

$496,000 and interest earned on securitization funds held in

trust of $235,000. 
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Table 12 General and Administrative Expenses 

(dollars in thousands) 

Year Ended December 31,

2000 1999

Percent of Percent of

Stockholders’ Stockholders’

Equity Equity

(Annualized) (Annualized)

Compensation and benefits $1,485 1.38% $1,804 1.80%
Office administration 751 0.70 804 0.80
Professional and outside services 690 0.64 801 0.80
Other 91 0.08 181 0.18
Total general and administrative expenses $3,017 2.80% $3,590 3.58%

Table 13 Portfolio Related Expenses as a Percent

of Stockholders’ Equity 2000 and 1999 

Percent of

Stockholders’

Equity

2000:

Fourth quarter 3.06%

Third quarter 3.03%

Second quarter 2.80
First quarter 2.80
1999:

Fourth quarter 3.63
Third quarter 3.06
Second quarter 2.07
First quarter 3.94

Compensation and benefits includes employee base salaries,

benefit costs and incentive compensation awards.  The decrease

in compensation and benefits for the year ended December 31,

2000 compared with the same period of 1999 is due to staff

reductions and employee cost allocations to NovaStar Mortgage.

Professional and outside services include fees for legal and

accounting services. In the normal course of business, fees are

incurred for professional services related to general corporate

matters and specific transactions. The 2000 decline is a result of

legal fees incurred on the structuring of various financing

arrangements and general company growth experienced during

1999. Office administration includes items such as rent, depre-

ciation, telephone, office supplies, postage, delivery, mainte-

nance and repairs. 

Equity in Earnings of NFI Holding Corporation 

For the year ended December 31, 2000, NFI Holding record-

ed net income of $1.1 million compared with net income of

$89,000 for the same period of 1999. NovaStar Financial

records its portion of the earnings as equity in net earnings of

NFI Holding in its income statement. NFI Holding’s financial

position and results of operation for the year ended December

31, 2000 and 1999 are discussed further under the heading

“NFI Holding Corporation.”

Results of Operations of NovaStar Financial, Inc.—Year

Ended December 31, 1999 Compared to the Year Ended

December 31, 1998 

Net Income 

During the year ended December 31, 1999, NovaStar Financial

recorded a net loss of $7.1 million, $1.08 per diluted share,

compared with net loss of $21.8 million, $2.71 per diluted share,

for the year ended December 31, 1998. NovaStar Financial’s net

loss for 1999 is principally a result of increased provisions for

credit losses that aggregated $22.1 million in 1999 versus $7.4

million in 1998. This increase is discussed further under

“Mortgage Insurance” and “Provisions for Credit Losses”. In

1998, NovaStar Financial recognized losses aggregating $23.4

million when it sold all of its agency securities and terminated

various interest rate agreements as a result of the liquidity crisis

faced by the capital markets in the fourth quarter of 1998.

NovaStar Financial’s primary sources of revenue are interest

earned on its securitized mortgage loan portfolio and prepay-

ment penalty income. In addition, results indirectly reflect gains

from the sale of whole loans to third parties and securitization

transactions executed by NovaStar Mortgage. 

Net Interest Income 

Table 14 presents a summary of the average intere s t - e a r n i n g

assets, average interest-bearing liabilities and the related yields and

rates thereon for the year ended December 31, 1999 and 1998. 

General and Administrative Expenses 

General and administrative expenses for the year ended

December 31, 2000 and 1999 are provided in Table 12. 

Table 13 displays the relationship of portfolio expenses to

stockholders’ equity during 2000 and 1999 by quarter.
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Table 14 Interest Analysis 

(dollars in thousands) Mortgage Loans Mortgage Securities Total

Interest Annual Interest Annual Interest Annual

Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/

Year ended December 31, 1999 Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate

Interest-earning mortgage assets $ 709,371 $ 66,324 9.35% $ 2,357 $ 389 16.50% $ 711,728 $ 66,713 9.37%
Interest-bearing liabilities

Asset-backed bonds 785,547 43,963 5.60 — — — 785,547 43,963 5.60
Other borrowings 4,206 541 12.86 — — — 4,206 541 12.86

Cost of derivative financial

instruments hedging liabilities 2,254 2,254

Total borrowings $ 789,753 $ 46,758 5.92% $ — $ — —% $ 789,753 $ 46,758 5.92%

Net interest income $ 19,566 $ 389 $ 19,955

Net interest spread 3.43% 16.50% 3.45%

Net yield 2.76% 16.50% 2.80%

Mortgage Loans Mortgage Securities Total

Interest Annual Interest Annual Interest Annual

Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/

Year ended December 31, 1998 Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate

Interest-earning mortgage assets $ 822,180 $ 76,751 9.34% $375,222 $23,996 6.40% $1,197,402 $100,747 8.41%
Interest-bearing liabilities

Repurchase agreements 118,380 7,817 6.60 392,859 21,891 5.57 511,239 29,708 5.81
Asset-backed bonds 703,328 43,287 6.15 — — — 703,328 43,287 6.15
Other borrowings 18,936 4,908 25.92 — — — 18,936 4,908 25.92

Cost of derivative financial

instruments hedging liabilities 2,162 729 2,891

Total borrowings $ 840,644 $ 58,174 6.92% $392,859 22,620 5.76% $1,233,503 $ 80,794 6.55%

Net interest income $ 18,577 $ 1,376 $ 19,953

Net interest spread 2.42% 0.64% 1.86%

Net yield 2.26% 0.37% 1.67%

Interest Income. NovaStar Financial’s average interest-earning

assets consist primarily of mortgage loans for the year ended

December 31, 1999. For 1998, interest-earning assets included

mortgage loans (70%) and lower-yielding agency securities

(30%). Mortgage securities income for 1999 consists of earnings

on interest-only and subordinated securities that NovaStar

Financial purchased from NovaStar Mortgage in September

1999. During 1999, mortgage loans earned $66.3 million, or a

yield of 9.4%, compared with $76.8 million, or a yield of 9.3%

for the same period of 1998. In total, assets earned $66.7 mil-

lion, or a yield of 9.4% for the year ended December 31, 1999.

During 1998, assets earned $100.7 million or an 8.4% yield.

NovaStar Financial sold all of its agency securities in October

1998 to meet short-term liquidity needs faced in the fourth

quarter of 1998. Agency securities earned $24.0 million for the

year ended December 31, 1998, or a yield of 6.4%. 

Interest Expense. Average interest-bearing liabilities for the year

ended December 31, 1999 consisted entirely of financing costs

on mortgage loans, compared with 1998 when mortgage loans

represented 70% and agency securities were 30%. During the

fourth quarter of 1998, NovaStar Financial sold all of its agency

securities. 

The cost of borrowed funds for mortgage loans was $46.8

million for 1999, or 5.9% of average borrowings compared with

$58.2 million, or 6.9% for 1998. The cost of financing agency

securities was $22.6 million during 1998, or 5.8% of average

borrowings. The composition of interest expense is significantly

different for the year ended December 31, 1999 compared with

the same period of 1998 due to the following factors: 

• The majority of mortgage loans serve as collateral on asset-

backed bonds as of December 31, 1999. During 1998, mortgage

loans secured debt consisting of asset-backed bonds and ware-

house facilities. The change in financing composition is due to

the fact that NovaStar Financial discontinued purchasing mort-

gage loans from NovaStar Mortgage during the last half of 1998.

Prior to that point in time, NovaStar Financial had purchased

100% of NovaStar Mortgage’s loan production upon origina-

tion. During that time, NovaStar Financial reimbursed NovaStar

Mortgage for warehousing costs incurred prior to sale.

Repurchase and warehouse facility costs for 1998 are included

under repurchase agreements and other borrowings in Table 14. 

• NovaStar sold all of its agency securities in October 1998

and paid off all related borrowings. No agency securities have

been purchased since that time. 
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• In connection with the capital markets liquidity crisis that

occurred in the last quarter of 1998, NovaStar Financial execut-

ed a short-term liquidity line with GMAC/Residential Funding

Corporation that was secured by mortgage interests in NovaStar’s

asset-backed bonds. This facility carried a substantially higher

interest cost than other borrowing arrangements. This debt was

paid off in February 1999 with funds from a similar facility pro-

vided by First Union National Bank. The First Union line was

repaid in full with proceeds from convertible preferred stock

issued in March 1999. The interest on these facilities during the

year ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 is included as a compo-

nent of other borrowings in Table 14. 

Advances under the warehouse line of credit bear interest

based on the federal funds rate plus a spread. Advances under

the master repurchase agreement bear interest at rates based on

LIBOR, plus a spread. During the year ended December 31,

1999, one-month LIBOR averaged 5.25% compared with 5.57%

for the year ended December 31, 1998. Because the Federal

Reserve Board increased the targeted federal funds interest rate

in 1999, effective borrowing costs have been higher for the sec-

ond half of 1999. As with interest income, the cost of funds in

the future will largely depend on market conditions, most

notably levels of short-term interest rates. Rates on other bor-

rowings generally fluctuate with short-term market interest rates,

such as LIBOR or the federal funds rate. 

Net Interest Income and Spread. Net interest income on mortgage

loans for 1999 was $19.6 million, or 2.8% of average interest-

earning mortgage loans, compared with $18.6 million, or 2.3%

for 1998. Net interest spread on mortgage loans was 3.4% and

2.4%, respectively, for 1999 and 1998. Net interest income on

mortgage securities during 1999 was $389,000, or 16.5% of

average interest-earning mortgage securities compared with net

interest income of $1.4 million, or 0.4% for 1998. Net interest

spread on mortgage securities was 16.5% for 1999 compared with

0.6% for 1998. The significant increase in net margin and

spread during 1999 compared with 1998 is due to the change in

NovaStar Financial’s asset and liability composition. During the

latter part of 1998, NovaStar Financial sold all agency securities

and paid off related financing. NovaStar Financial has not pur-

chased any more of these lower-yielding mortgage assets. Net

interest income and the spread are functions of asset yields rela-

tive to its costs of funds. The volume of assets and liabilities and

how well the spread between earnings on assets and the cost of

funds is managed will dictate future net interest income. 

Impact of Interest Rate Agreements. NovaStar Financial has entered

into interest rate agreements designed to mitigate exposure to

interest rate risk. Interest rate cap agreements require NovaStar

Financial to pay a monthly fixed premium while allowing it to

receive a rate that adjusts with LIBOR, when rates rise above a

certain agreed-upon rate. These agreements are used to alter, in

effect, the interest rates on funding costs to more closely match

the yield on interest-earning assets. 

During the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, net

interest expense incurred on hedging agreements was $2.3 mil-

lion and $2.9 million, respectively, which is included as a com-

ponent of interest expense.  In 1998, NovaStar Financial recog-

nized losses aggregating $8.0 million due to the termination of

all swap agreements during the liquidity crisis faced by the capital

markets in the latter part of 1998. These agreements were related

to the financing for disposed mortgage loans and securities.

NovaStar Financial’s interest rate agreements as of December 31,

1999 and 1998 are further detailed in Note 5 of the consolidated

financial statements.

Prepayment Penalty Income 

NovaStar Financial strives to purchase loans that have some

form of prepayment penalty fee to mitigate exposure to pre p a y-

ment risk. During 1999, 90% of the mortgage loans originated by

NFI Holding affiliates had prepayment penalties compared with

74% during 1998. As of December 31, 1999, 58% of NovaStar

Financial’s mortgage loan portfolio had prepayment penalties

c o m p a red with 70% as of December 31, 1998. Prepayment penal-

ties totaled $3.1 million during 1999 compared with $2.0 million

for 1998. This increase is attributable to more prepayments in the

securitized mortgage loan portfolio in 1999.

Gain (Loss) on Sales of Assets and Loss on Termination of

Interest Rate Agreements

For the year ended December 31, 1999, NovaStar Financial

recognized $319,000 in net gains on the sale of real estate prop-

erties and $32,000 in gains on the sale of mortgage loans. In

1998, NovaStar Financial recognized losses aggregating $15.2

million and $8.0 million on the sale of agency securities and

termination of related swap agreements. Also, in 1998 net gains

of $305,000 were recognized on the sale of $7.9 million of

mortgage loans.

Mortgage Insurance

Premiums for mortgage insurance on loans maintained on the

balance sheet of NovaStar Financial are recorded as a portfolio

cost and included in the income statement under the caption

“Premiums for Mortgage Loan Insurance. ” During the year

ended December 31, 1999, total premiums paid by NovaStar

totaled $1.7 million compared with $744,000 for the same peri-

od of 1998.  The monthly premiums paid on loans serving as

collateral for NMFT 99-01 reduce NovaStar Financial’s monthly

cashflow receipt.

Provisions for Credit Losses 

During 1999, NovaStar Financial made provisions for losses of

$22.1 million and incurred net charge-offs of $14.5 million,

compared to $7.4 million and $6.2 million during 1998.

Charge-offs in 1999 include $1.9 million resulting from short

sale transactions and loans charged off in full.

The level and trend of charge-offs in 1999 led management to

conclude that total losses on securitized mortgage loans will be

higher, and will occur earlier, than originally projected. The

provisions during 1999 and resulting allowance as of December

31, 1999 reflect the increased loss activity. 
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Table 15 is the activity in the allowance for credit losses during

1999 and 1998. Tables 16 and 17 provide details regarding the

delinquencies, defaults, and loss statistics of NovaStar Financial’s

mortgage loan portfolio.

Table 15 Allowance for Credit Losses 

(in thousands) 1999 1998

December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31 December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31

Beginning balance $ 5,370 $ 3,573 $ 3,492 $ 3,573 $ 2,757 $ 3,341 $ 2,871 $ 2,313
Provision for credit losses 10,579 5,634 3,566 2,299 4,030 1,179 1,145 1,076
Amounts charged off, net

of recoveries (4,844) (3,837) (3,485) (2,380) (3,214) (1,763) (675) (518)

Ending Balance $ 11,105 $ 5,370 $ 3,573 $ 3,492 $ 3,573 $ 2,757 $ 3,341 $ 2,871

Table 16 Loan Delinquencies (90 days and greater) (A)

(in thousands) 1999 1998

December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31 December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31

Mortgage loans

Collateralizing

NovaStar Home

Equity Series (ABB):

1997-1

Issued October 1, 1997 5.63% 6.32% 5.13% 4.37% 5.45% 5.97% 5.86% 4.39%
1997-2

Issued December 11, 1997 6.24 4.92 4.03 5.38 5.62 4.97 4.72 2.23
1998-1
Issued April 30, 1998 4.42 5.32 4.13 4.64 4.44 2.06 — —

1998-2

Issued August 18, 1998 5.38 4.06 3.94 3.72 2.35 0.40 — —

(A) Includes loans in foreclosure or bankruptcy.



Table 17 Delinquencies, Defaults and Losses

(dollars in thousands) NovaStar Home Equity Series

December 31, 1999 1997-1 1997-2 1998-1 1998-2 Warehouse All Loans

Allowance for Credit Losses:

Balance, January 1, 1999 $ 816 $ 1,049 $ 1,163 $ 346 $ 199 $ 3,573
Provision for credit losses 4,317 5,436 8,194 4,065 66 22,078
Amounts charged off, net of

recoveries (2,798) (3,624) (5,143) (2,726) (255) (14,546)

Balance, December 31, 1999 $ 2,335 $ 2,861 $ 4,214 $ 1,685 $ 10 $11,105

Defaults as a percent of loan balance

Delinquent loans (A) 8.03% 9.89% 6.38% 7.50% 91.75% 7.63%
Loans in foreclosure 4.73 4.32 3.75 4.02 6.76 4.09
Real estate owned 3.85 4.88 3.61 2.62 47.00 3.51

NovaStar Home Equity Series

December 31, 1998 1997-1 1997-2 1998-1 1998-2 Warehouse All Loans

Allowance for Credit Losses:

Balance, January 1, 1998 $ 1,063 $ 967 $ — $ — $ 283 $ 2,313
Provision for credit losses 1,895 2,257 1,878 222 1,178 7,430
Amounts charged off, net of

recoveries (2,142) (2,175) (715) 124 (1,262) (6,170)

Balance, December 31, 1998 $ 816 $ 1,049 $ 1,163 $ 346 $ 199 $ 3,573

Defaults as a percent of loan balance

Delinquent loans (A) 6.45% 5.95% 4.89% 4.06% 98.68% 5.17%
Loans in foreclosure 2.63 2.96 3.60 2.06 8.82 2.80
Real estate owned 3.54 2.76 1.01 0.09 86.11 1.56

(A) Loans delinquent 30 days or greater 
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Loan Servicing Fees Paid to NovaStar Mortgage, Inc. 

Loan servicing fees paid to NovaStar Mortgage, Inc. include the

50 basis point fee charged by NovaStar Mortgage for servicing

the loans owned by NovaStar Financial serving as collateral on

ABB. The fee charged is based on the collected loan principal

balance of the mortgage loans serviced.

Net fees for other services provided by NFI Holding

Corporation

Net fees for other services provided by NFI Holding

Corporation during 1999 and 1998 are further detailed in Note

12 of NovaStar Financial’s consolidated financial statements.

The significant decline in these fees for the year ended

December 31, 1999 compared with 1998 is due to the net effect

of the following:

• The decline in the administrative fees paid to NovaStar

Mortgage is due to the cancellation of this agreement on

March 31, 1999, since NovaStar Financial is no longer pur-

chasing loans from NovaStar Mortgage. 

• The decrease in purchase commitment fees is due to the dis-

continuance of this intercompany agreement beginning

January 1, 1999. 

• The increase in interest income received from NovaStar

Mortgage is due to the intercompany agreement that went into

effect April 1, 1999. 

General and Administrative Expenses 

General and administrative expenses for the years ended

December 31, 1999 and 1998 are provided in Table 18. Table 19

displays the relationship of portfolio expenses to net interest

income during 1999 and 1998 by quarter. 
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Table 18 General and Administrative Expenses

(dollars in thousands) Years Ended December 31,

1999 1998

Percent of Percent of

Stockholders’ Stockholders’

Equity Equity

(Annualized) (Annualized)

Compensation and benefits $1,804 1.82% $1,785 2.16%
Office administration 804 0.92 903 1.09
Professional and outside services 801 0.84 1,117 1.35
Other 181 0.11 574 0.69

Total general and administrative expenses $3,590 3.69% $4,379 5.29%

Table 19 Portfolio Related Expenses as a Percent of

Net Interest Income 1999 and 1998 

Percent of

Stockholders’

Equity

(Annualized)

1999:

Fourth quarter................................................... 3.63
Third quarter ................................................... 3.06
Second quarter ................................................. 2.07
First quarter ..................................................... 3.94
1998:

Fourth quarter................................................... 6.23
Third quarter ................................................... 4.06
Second quarter ................................................. 4.05
First quarter ..................................................... 2.80

The decrease in portfolio related expenses in 1999 compared

with 1998 is attributable in part to increased general and

administrative costs incurred during the capital markets’ liquid-

ity crisis of 1998. Also, in 1998, fees were paid for portfolio

management related services prior to the hiring of additional

personnel to this department in 1998. 

Equity in Earnings (Loss) of NFI Holding Corporation 

For the years ended December 31, 1999, NFI Holding record-

ed net income of $89,000 compared with a net loss of $3.0

million for the same period of 1998. NovaStar Financial records

its portion of the earnings (loss) as equity in net earnings (loss)

of NFI Holding in its income statement. NFI Holding’s finan-

cial position and results of operation for the years ended

December 31, 1999 and 1998 are discussed further under the

heading “NFI Holding Corporation.” 

Estimated Taxable Income (Loss) 

Income reported for financial reporting purposes as calculated

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

( G AAP) differs from income computed for income tax purposes.

This distinction is important as dividends paid are based on tax-

able income. Table 20 is a summary of the differences between

net income or loss reported for GAAP and estimated taxable

income for the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998. 

Table 20 Estimated Taxable Income (Loss)

(in thousands) 

Years Ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998

Net income (loss) $ 5,626 $ (7,092) $ (21,821)
Results of NFI Holding and

subsidiaries (1,123) (88) 2,984
Provision for credit losses 5,449 22,078 7,430
Loans charged-off (8,864) (14,546) (6,170)
Capital losses — — 14,962
Other, net 461 (442) (13)

1,549 (90) (2,628)

Effect of dividends paid (1,538) — —
Use of net operating loss carryforward (11) — —

Estimated taxable loss $ — $ (90) $ (2,628)

Net operating loss at year end $ 2,707 $ 2 , 7 1 8 $ 2 , 6 2 8

Total dividends paid $ 2,100 $ 1 , 6 0 6 $ 8 , 1 2 4
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Table 21 2000 and 1999 Quarterly Wholesale Loan Originations

(dollars in thousands, except for average loan balance)

Weighted Average

Average Price Paid Percent with

Number Loan to Loan to Credit Prepayment

of Loans Principal Balance Broker Value Rating (A) Coupon Penalty

2000:

Fourth quarter 1,768 $208,232 $117,778 101.1 82% 5.12 10.73% 86%
Third quarter 1,793 207,662 115,818 101.1 84 5.20 10.72 90
Second quarter 1,473 171,375 116,344 101.0 82 5.32 10.50 91
First quarter 1,232 132,072 107,201 101.1 80 5.45 10.16 93

2000 total 6,266 $719,341 $114,801 101.1 82% 5.28 10.51% 90%
1999:

Fourth quarter 1,265 $130,288 $102,994 101.0 82% 5.30 10.04% 91%
Third quarter 1,204 125,140 103,937 100.8 82 5.28 9.87 91
Second quarter 1,161 114,631 98,735 101.1 82 5.14 9.82 89
First quarter 865 82,495 95,370 100.5 80 4.95 9.85 89

1999 total 4,495 $452,554 $100,679 100.9 82% 5.19 9.90% 90%

(A) AAA=7, AA=6, A=5, A-=4, B=3, C=2, D=1

Dividends paid on preferred and common stock reduce taxable

income of the Company. However, dividends paid in excess of

taxable income do not increase the net operating loss carryfor-

ward. The net operating loss carryforward will offset future tax-

able income and, thereby, reduce the amount of required distri-

butions to maintain REIT status under IRS guidelines.

NFI Holding Corporation 

Since NovaStar Financial discontinued purchasing loans from

NovaStar Mortgage and holding them in portfolio in the latter

part of 1998, NovaStar Mortgage has had a larger impact on

NovaStar Financial’s operational results. Instead of selling loans

to NovaStar Financial, NovaStar Mortgage has sold loans to out-

side third parties. Through its indirect equity ownership of NFI

Holding, NovaStar Financial has shared in the profits of

NovaStar Mortgage’s loan sales. Effective January 1, 2001,

NovaStar Financial purchased the outstanding voting stock of

NFI Holding from the founders. As a result of this purchase,

NFI Holding is now a consolidated subsidiary of NovaStar

Financial. This transaction and pro forma consolidated financial

statements are presented in Notes 8 and 14 to the consolidated

financial statements.

NFI Holding’s consolidated financial statements as of

December 31, 2000 and 1999, which consists primarily of the

assets, liabilities, and operational results of NovaStar Mortgage

and NovaStar Home Mortgage are presented in Note 12 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Financial Condition of NFI Holding Corporation as of

December 31, 2000 and December 31, 1999

Mortgage Loan Originations. NFI Holding originated 6,266 non-

conforming residential mortgage loans during the year ended

December 31, 2000 with an aggregate principal amount of $719

million. Virtually all of NFI Holding’s mortgage assets as of

December 31, 2000 and 1999 consist of non-conforming mort-

gage loans that will be sold directly to independent buyers of

whole loans or through securitization transactions that are treat-

ed for tax and accounting purposes as sales. Table 21 is a summa-

ry of NFI Holding’s wholesale loan originations for 2000 and

1999. Table 22 presents a summary of mortgage loan transfers of

NFI Holding during 2000 and 1999. Table 23 is a summary of

wholesale loan origination costs of production. 
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Table 22 Quarterly Mortgage Loan Transfers

(dollars in thousands)

Mortgage Loans

Mortgage Loan Sales to Third Transferred in

Parties Securitizations

Weighted

Average

Principal Net Gain Price To Principal Net Gain

Amount Recognized Par Amount Recognized

2000:

Fourth quarter $46,158 $1,666 104.6% $151,277 $3,227
Third quarter 50,334 1,552 104.4 188,734 3,584
Second quarter 27,799 661 103.8 101,675 1,392
First quarter 48,548 1,204 104.0 128,171 1,544

2000 total $ 172,839 $ 5,083 104.2 $569,857 $9,747
1999:

Fourth quarter $ 109,443 $ 2,583 104.1% $ — $    —

Third quarter 110,512 3,075 104.2 — —

Second quarter 98,048 2,911 104.4 25,800 355
First quarter 72,824 1,593 103.6 138,847 1,250

1999 total $ 390,827 $10,162 104.1 $ 164,647 $1,605

Table 23 Wholesale Loan Costs of Production

Premium

paid to

broker, Total

Gross Loan net of fees Acquisition

Production collected Cost

Costs as a percent of principal:

2000 2.9% 0.5% 3.4%

Fourth quarter 2.8 0.5 3.3

Third quarter 2.6 0.5 3.1

Second quarter 3.0 0.5 3.5

First quarter 3.3 0.5 3.8

1999 4.2% 0.4% 4.6%

Fourth quarter 3.1 0.5 3.6

Third quarter 3.8 0.4 4.2

Second quarter 4.2 0.5 4.7

First quarter 6.2 0.2 6.4

As noted in the table above, NovaStar Mortgage’s quarter-to-

quarter 2000 wholesale loan production costs steadily declined

as a result of increased efficiencies in the mortgage lending

operation. During the third quarter of 1999, NovaStar

Mortgage introduced Internet Underwriter®, “IU”, a web-based

origination system that has allowed NovaStar Mortgage to

increase production volumes without adding infrastructure. First

quarter 2000 production costs were slightly higher than fourth

quarter 1999 due in part to more expense allocations from

NovaStar Financial. In addition, NovaStar Mortgage hired more

account executives during the first quarter of 2000. Account

executive costs typically are higher in the first few months of

employment and are expected to decline, as a percent of princi-

pal, as the sales force becomes more productive with added

experience and exposure to NovaStar Mortgage’s whole loan

origination products and markets. 

Table 24 is a summary of loans originated by state for 2000

and 1999 by quarter. As of December 31, 2000, NovaStar

Mortgage had 85 account executives.
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Table 24 Mortgage Loan Originations by State

Percent of Total Originations during Quarter

(based on original principal balance)

2000 1999

Collateral Location Fourth Third Second First Fourth Third Second First

California 14% 11% 10% 10% 10% 10% 8% 6%
Florida 11 12 13 14 12 15 12 15
Michigan 9 10 11 11 12 10 10 12
Ohio 6 7 8 7 8 12 10 8
Nevada 5 6 7 7 5 4 4 3
Arizona 4 5 5 5 8 5 7 4
Colorado 4 5 5 4 2 1 1 2
Tennessee 4 4 6 7 6 4 6 9
Washington 3 5 5 5 4 4 5 3
All other states 40 35 30 30 33 35 37 38

NFI Holding’s loan originations are funded through ware-

house and repurchase facilities at First Union and GMAC/RFC.

Table 27 of the “Liquidity Resources and Capital” section of this

document and Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements

detail borrowings outstanding under these financing arrange-

ments as of December 31, 2000.

Mortgage Loan Sales. NovaStar Mortgage executed two securitiza-

tions during 2000, combining $570 million in loans, which

were sold to a Special Purpose Entity (SPE). A gain of $9.7 mil-

lion was recognized on these transactions. Bonds issued by the

SPE were $560 million and proceeds received were used to pay

down warehouse and mortgage loan repurchase facilities of

NovaStar Mortgage. The loans were sold without recourse.

NovaStar Mortgage retained interest-only and subordinated

securities issued by the SPE, which NovaStar Financial subse-

quently purchased. NovaStar Mortgage also retained loan servic-

ing rights for the loans sold. The values of the retained interests

and the mortgage servicing rights have been recorded as assets

and the loans sold have been removed from the balance sheets of

NovaStar Mortgage. 

NovaStar Mortgage allocated its basis in the mortgage loans

between the portion of the mortgage loans sold and the retained

assets based on the relative fair values of those portions at the

time of sale. The values of these assets are determined by dis-

counting estimated future cash flows using the cash out method.

The following table details the significant assumptions used to

determine the value of the resulting retained assets in NMFT

2000-1 and 2000-2.

Constant

prepayment Static loss,

rate net of

(weighted mortgage Discount

average life) insurance Rate

2000-1 27 1% 15%
2000-2 28 1% 15%

Details regarding loan collateral as of December 31, 2000 and

1999 are included in Tables 4, 5 and 8 of this document.

NFI Holding also sold $172.8 million of its whole loan port-

folio to unrelated third parties for cash at net gains of $5.1 mil-

lion and an average price to par of 104.2 during 2000. Table 22

of “Financial Condition of NFI Holding Corporation as of

December 31, 2000 and 1999” provides a quarterly analysis of

NFI Holding’s mortgage loan sales to third parties. 

Mortgage Loan Servicing. Loan servicing is a critical part of

NovaStar Mortgage’s business. The majority of the loans serviced

by NovaStar Mortgage are owned or managed by NovaStar

Financial. In the opinion of management, maintaining contact

with borrowers is vital in managing credit risk and in borrower

retention. Non-conforming borrowers are prone to late pay-

ments and are more likely to default on their obligations than

conventional borrowers. NovaStar Mortgage strives to identify

issues and trends with borrowers early and take quick action to

address such matters. 

Table 25 provides summaries of delinquencies and default sta-

tistics of NovaStar Mortgage’s mortgage loan portfolio in 2000

and 1999 by quarter. The information presented in both tables

includes mortgage loans owned by NovaStar Financial and its

affiliates. Other information regarding the credit quality of

NovaStar Financial’s mortgage loans is provided in Table 1.
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Table 25 Delinquencies and Defaults

(dollars in thousands)

2000 1999

December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31 December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31

Loan servicing

portfolio $1,112,615 $1,016,952 $970,016 $872,693 $894,572 $969,343 $1,032,065 $1,072,393

Total defaults:

Delinquent

loans (A) 4.89% 4.90% 4.82% 5.58% 6.28% 4.75% 5.21% 4.12%

Loans in

foreclosure 2.71 3.34 3.25 3.55 3.62 3.79 3.36 3.39

Real estate

owned 1.57 1.97 2.07 2.65 2.71 2.24 2.20 1.66

(A) Includes loans delinquent 30 days or greater

Table 26 Mortgage Loan Activity—NFI Holding Corporation

Sold to Sold to Sold

NovaStar Third in Held in Normal and

Financial, Inc. Parties Securitizations Portfolio Prepayments Total

2000

Fourth quarter — 9% 55% 34% 2% 100%
Third quarter — 9 60 30 1 100
Second quarter — 12 44 43 1 100
First quarter — 20 53 26 1 100
1999

Fourth quarter — 52 — 46 2 100
Third quarter. — 54 — 44 2 100
Second quarter — 32 13 54 1 100
First quarter — 25 45 29 1 100

The following table presents a summary of the mortgage loan

activity of NFI Holding for 2000 and 1999 as a percent of the

respective quarter’s beginning principal of mortgage loans held

in portfolio and loan origination principal.



34

N ovaStar Financial, I n c.
a nn u a l  r e p o r t  2000

Results of Operations of NFI Holding Corporation—

Year Ended December 31, 2000 Compared to the Year

Ended December 31, 1999 

For the year ended December 31, 2000, NFI Holding record-

ed net income of $1.1 million compared with net income of

$89,000 during the same period of 1999. A summarized

income statement of NFI Holding is presented in Note 12 to the

consolidated financial statements.

The following summarizes operating results of NFI Holding

for the year ended December 31, 2000 compared with the same

period of 1999: 

• Fees from third parties increased from $905,000 during 1999

to $9.9 million during 2000. The significant increase is due to

b r o ker fees received on loans originated through the mortgage

b r o kers of NovaStar Home Mortgage. NovaStar Home Mortgage

o p e rates 60 mortgage broker offices in 27 states. The opera t i o n s

of NovaStar Home Mortgage began in November 1999.

• Fees received from, net of paid to, Novastar Financial, Inc.

declined from $4.0 million in 1999 to $21,000 in 2000, pri-

marily due to changes in the intercompany fee agreements

between the two periods. A summary of the intercompany fees by

type and changes between the two periods is discussed Note 12 to

the consolidated financial statements.

• During 2000, NovaStar Mortgage recognized net gains of

$14.8 million on the sale of whole loans. Of that amount, $9.7

million was recognized in two securitization transactions that

closed during the period. The remainder of the gain was prima-

rily due to various whole loan sales to third parties for cash.

During the same period of 1999, NovaStar Mortgage recognized

gains of $11.8 million on the transfer of whole loans, including

$1.6 million on the NMFT 1999-1 asset-backed bond transaction. 

• General and administrative expenses increased from $21.3

million during 1999 to $29.7 million during the same period of

2000. The increase is primarily attributable to various expenses

incurred by the broker branches of NovaStar Home Mortgage,

including the net income generated from the branches which is

expensed to the branch in the form of compensation. NovaStar

Home Mortgage began providing various accounting and com-

pensation services to mortgage brokerage companies during the

fourth quarter of 1999.

• No income tax expense has been recorded during 2000

because of the existence of substantial net operating loss carry-

forwards, which are expected to offset all of the pre-tax income

in 2000.

Results of Operations of NFI Holding Corporation—

Year Ended December 31, 1999 Compared to the Year

Ended December 31, 1998 

For the year ended December 31, 1999 NFI Holding recorded

net income of $89,000 compared with a net loss of $3.0 mil-

lion during 1998. Note 12 of the consolidated financial state-

ments presents a summarized income statement of NFI Holding. 

The following summarizes reasons impacting operating results

of NFI Holding for 1999 compared with 1998: 

• Effective July 1998, NovaStar Mortgage began retaining its

mortgage loan production to sell to third parties or securitize

versus its previous practice of selling 100% of originations

directly to NovaStar Financial. Accordingly, NovaStar Mortgage

recognized $5.5 million of net interest income on loans in ware-

house for the year ended December 31, 1999 compared with

$4.3 million during 1998. The net interest income recognized

in 1998 also includes interest earned on agency securities.

NovaStar Mortgage sold all of its agency securities during the lat-

ter part of 1998. 

• Provisions for credit losses in 1999 were $860,000 versus

$210,000 in 1998. The increase in the provisions is partly due

to the effects of maintaining warehouse loans as well as increases

made to the provisions for credit losses in 1999 as discussed

under “Provisions for Credit Losses”.

• The administrative fee agreement between NovaStar Financial

and NovaStar Mortgage was cancelled on April 1, 1999. These

fees are included in services provided to NovaStar Financial, Inc. 

• During 1999, NovaStar Mortgage recognized net gains of

$11.8 million from the sale of whole loans. Of that amount, $1.6

million of the gains recognized were a result of the closing of

NovaStar Mortgage’s first securitization transaction. The

remainder of the gain resulted from various whole loan sales to

third parties for cash. During 1998, NovaStar Mortgage recog-

nized gains of $3.0 million on sales of whole loans and

$164,000 from selling mortgage securities. 

• NovaStar Mortgage’s wholesale origination operation did not

operate at full capacity during 1999. The cost of loan production

as a percent of principal averaged 4.6% in 1999 versus 3.4%

during the 1998, the details of which are presented in Table 23.

As a result, NovaStar Mortgage capitalized a lower percentage of

origination costs during 1999—which under GAAP are amortized

as an adjustment of the yield over the life of the loan versus

expensed in the period incurred. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Liquidity means the need for, access to and uses of cash. The

primary needs for cash include the acquisition of mortgage

loans, principal repayment and interest on borrowings, operat-

ing expenses and dividend payments. Substantial cash is required

to support the operating activities of the business, especially the

mortgage origination operation. Mortgage asset sales, principal,

interest and fees collected on mortgage assets and interest-only

and subordinated securities will serve to support cash needs.

Drawing upon various borrowing arrangements typically satisfies

major cash requirements. NovaStar Mortgage requires substantial

cash to fund loan originations and operating costs. 

As of December 31, 2000, NFI Holding owned $78.8 million

of non-conforming mortgage loans. NFI Holding provided

financing for these loans through warehouse and repurchase

credit facilities with First Union and GMAC/RFC. Loans
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financed with warehouse and repurchase credit facilities are sub-

ject to changing market valuation and margin calls. Management

expects to continue selling loans originated by NovaStar

Mortgage or securitizing those loans to meet the significant cash

needs of the wholesale loan operation. Management believes

NovaStar Financial can operate indefinitely in this manner, pro-

vided that the level of loan originations is at or near the capacity

of its production infrastructure. 

Table 27 is a summary of cash, financing arrangements and

available borrowing capacity for NovaStar Financial and NovaStar

Mortgage, on a combined basis, as of December 31, 2000: 

Table 27 Liquidity Resources

(in thousands)

Maximum Lending

Borrowing Value of

Resource Maturity Limit Collateral Borrowings Availability

Cash $  3,760
Committed facilities

with First Union National Bank (A):

Warehouse line of credit 7/27/01 $  75,000 $   53,878 $24,326 29,552
Secured whole loan repurchase agreement 7/27/01 175,000 517 517 —

Residual financing available 12/17/01 25,000 (B) 25,000 —

Committed facility with GMAC/Residential Funding

Corporation (A):

Warehouse line of credit 02/08/01 50,000 17,212 12,057 5,155

Total $ 325,000 $   71,607 $61,900 $38,467

(A) Value of collateral and borrowings include amounts for NovaStar Financial and NovaStar Mortgage, as they are co-borrowers under the arrange-

ments with First Union National Bank and GMAC/RFC. 

(B) Management estimates the value of the interest-only and subordinated securities range from $60 to $75 million and does not include the value of

mortgage servicing rights. 

The warehouse line of credit and whole loan repurchase agree-

ments with First Union National Bank expire on July 27, 2001. 

In the opinion of management, the available liquidity

resources are sufficient to cover expected future production of

NovaStar Mortgage.

Cash activity during the years ended December 31, 2000,

1999 and 1998 are presented in the consolidated statement of

cash flows. 

The capital of NovaStar Financial has come from

• a private placement offering of preferred stock, raising net

proceeds of $47 million.

• an initial public offering of common stock, raising net 

proceeds of $67 million, and

• a private offering of convertible preferred stock, raising net

proceeds of $29 million.

NovaStar Financial uses capital when financing loans on a

long-term basis. Under short-term financing arrangements,

NovaStar can borrow up to the lessor of 98% of the face amount

or 95% of the market value of the loans it owns. In long-term

financing (i.e. in the form of asset-backed bonds) NovaStar can

finance approximately 95% of the market value of the loans.

NovaStar must use its own capital resources to “finance” the dif-

ference between the financed portion and the full loan cost.

During 1999 and 2000, most of the loans originated by

NovaStar Mortgage were sold to third parties and in securitiza-

tion transactions treated as sales for tax and financial reporting

purposes. When selling loans to third parties, NovaStar does not

use capital. In fact, if the sales prices are above the full cost to

originate loans, this method of operation will generate capital

for NovaStar.

During 2001, management expects to securitize 75% of the

loans produced by NovaStar Mortgage. The remainder will be

sold to third parties. NovaStar currently has excess capital avail-

able to support this mode of operation during 2001. When

NovaStar Financial fully deploys its capital, management expects

to either raise more equity from the capital markets or sell

enough loans so that it operates without the need for additional

capital.

Interest Rate/Market Risk 

The investment policy for NovaStar Financial sets the follow-

ing general goals: 

(1) Maintain the net interest margin between assets and liabili-

ties, and

(2) Diminish the effect of changes in interest rate levels on the

market value of NovaStar Financial.

Loan Price Volatility. NovaStar Mortgage may sell some loans it
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originates to third parties. To the extent NovaStar Mortgage

engages in this type of exit strategy, the financial results of

NovaStar Financial will depend on the ability to find purchasers

for the loans at prices that cover origination expenses. Exposure

to loan price volatility is reduced to the degree that NovaStar

Financial retains mortgage loans in portfolio. 

Interest Rate Risk. Interest rate risk is the risk that the market

value of assets will increase or decrease at different rates than

that of the liabilities. Expressed another way, this is the risk that

NovaStar Financial’s net asset value will experience an adverse

change when interest rates change. When interest rates on the

assets do not adjust at the same rates as the liabilities or when the

assets are fixed rates and the liabilities are adjusting, future

earnings potential is affected. Management primarily uses

financing sources where the interest rate resets frequently. As of

December 31, 2000 borrowings under all financing arrange-

ments adjust daily, monthly, or quarterly. On the other hand,

very few of the mortgage assets owned by NovaStar Financial, as

of December 31, 2000, adjust on a monthly or daily basis. Most

of the mortgage loans contain features where their rates are fixed

for some period of time and then adjust frequently thereafter.

For example, one of our loan products is the “2/28” loan. This

loan is fixed for its first two years and then adjusts every six

months thereafter. 

While short-term borrowing rates are low and long-term asset

rates are high, this portfolio structure produces good results.

However, if short-term interest rates rise rapidly, earning

potential is significantly affected, as the asset rate resets would

lag the borrowing rate resets. The converse can be true when

sharp declines in short-term interest rates cause interest costs to

fall faster than asset rate resets, thereby increasing earnings. 

In its assessment of the interest sensitivity and as an indication

of exposure to interest rate risk, management relies on models

of financial information in a variety of interest rate scenarios.

Using these models, the fair value and interest rate sensitivity of

each financial instrument, or groups of similar instruments is

estimated, and then aggregated to form a comprehensive picture

of the risk characteristics of the balance sheet. The risks are ana-

lyzed on both an income and market value basis. 

The following are summaries of the analysis as of December 30,

2000 and 1999.

Table 28 Interest Rate Sensitivity-Income

(in thousands)

Basis Point Increase (Decrease)

in Interest Rate(A)

As of December 31, 2000 (100) Base 100

Income (expense) from:

Assets $ 91,334 $ 93,189 $ 95,138
Liabilities (B) (60,327) (68,686) (77,207)
Interest rate agreements (1,587) (1,424) (119)

Net spread income $ 29,420 $ 23,079 $ 17,812

Cumulative change in income from base (C) $ 6,341 — $ (5,267)

Percent change from base spread income (D) 27.5% — (22.8)%

Percent change of capital(E) 5.8% — (4.8)%

As of December 31, 1999

Income from:

Assets $ 61,610 $ 64,419 $ 66,954
Liabilities (B) (42,173) (47,803) (53,442)
Interest rate agreements (1,379) (1,379) 1,122

Net spread income $ 18,058 $ 15,237 $ 14,634

Cumulative change in income from base (C) $ 2,821 — $ (603)

Percent change from base spread income (D) 18.5% — (4.0)%

Percent change of capital(E) 2.8% — (0.6)%

(A) Income of asset, liability or interest rate agreement in a parallel shift in the yield curve, up and down 1%

(B) Includes debt issue costs, loan premium amortization, mortgage insurance premiums and provisions for credit losses.

(C) Total change in estimated spread income, in dollars, from “base.” “Base” is the estimated spread income

as of December 31, 2000 and 1999. 

(D) Total change in estimated spread income, as a percent, from base. 

(E) Total change in estimated spread income as a percent of total stockholders’ equity as of December 31, 2000 and 1999. 



Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis. The values under the heading

“Base” are management’s estimates of spread income for assets,

liabilities and interest rate agreements on December 31, 2000

and 1999. The values under the headings “100” and “(100)” are

management’s estimates of the income and change in market

value of those same assets, liabilities and interest rate agreements

assuming that interest rates were 100 basis points, or 1 percent

higher and lower. The cumulative change in income or market

value represents the change in income or market value of assets,

net of the change in income or market value of liabilities and

interest rate agreements. 

The interest sensitivity analysis is pre p a red monthly. If the

analysis demonstrates that a 100 basis point shift, up or down, in

i n t e rest rates would result in 25 percent or more cumulative

d e c rease in income from base, or a 10% cumulative decrease in

m a r ket value from base, policy re q u i res management to adjust the

portfolio by adding or removing interest rate cap or swap agre e-

ments. The Board of Directors reviews and approves NovaStar

Financial’s interest rate sensitivity and hedged position quarterly.

Management also evaluates the portfolio using interest ra t e

i n c reases and decreases less than and greater than one percent. 

Assumptions Used in Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis.

Management uses a variety of estimates and assumptions in

determining the income and market value of assets, liabilities

and interest rate agreements. The estimates and assumptions

have a significant impact on the results of the interest rate sensi-

tivity analysis, the results of which are shown as of December 31,

2000 and 1999. 

Management’s analysis for assessing interest rate sensitivity on

its mortgage loans relies significantly on estimates for prepay-

ment speeds. The prepayment model used by management has

been internally developed and is a function based on the bor-

rowers’ payment change percentage. The factors affecting the size

of the borrowers’ payment are as follows:

• Refinancing incentives (the interest rate of the mortgage com-

p a red with the current mortgage rates available to the borrower) 

•  Program Type

•  Borrower credit grades 

•  Loan Term

•  Loan-to-value ratios 

•  Loan size

•  Prepayment penalties (length and type)

•  Estimated closing costs

Generally speaking, when market interest rates decline, bor-

rowers are more likely to refinance their mortgages. The higher

the interest rate a borrower currently has on his or her mortgage

the more incentive he or she has to refinance the mortgage when

rates decline. In addition, the higher the credit grade, the more

incentive there is to refinance when credit ratings improve.

When a borrower has a low loan-to-value ratio, he or she is

more likely to do a “cash-out” refinance. When a borrower has a

higher balance loan, as refinancing rates fall, the percent of

potential payment decrease is greater than on a comparably

smaller balance loan, thereby making higher balance loans pre-
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Table 29 Interest Rate Sensitivity—Market Value

(dollars in thousands) Basis Point Increase (Decrease)

in Interest Rate(A)

As of December 31, 2000 (100) 100

Change in market values of:

Assets $  2,448 $ (9,763)
Liabilities (1,624) 1,865
Interest rate agreements (524) 2,220

Cumulative change in market value $     300 $(5,678)

Percent change of market value portfolio equity (B) 0.3% (5.7)%

As of December 31, 1999

Change in market values of:

Assets $  1,913 $(7,652)
Liabilities (2,068) 2,376
Interest rate agreements (2,809) 4,723

Cumulative change in market value $  (2,964) $   (553)

Percent change of market value portfolio equity (B) (3.0)% (0.6)%

(A) Change in market value of assets, liabilities or interest rate agreements in a parallel shift in the yield curve, up and down 1%. 

(B) Total change in estimated market value as a percent of market value portfolio equity as of December 31, 2000 and 1999. 
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pay faster. Each of these factors increases the chance for higher

prepayment speeds during the term of the loan. On the other

hand, prepayment penalties serve to mitigate the risk that loans

will prepay because the penalty is a deterrent to refinancing. 

These factors are weighted based on management’s experience

and an evaluation of the important trends observed in the non-

conforming mortgage origination industry and NovaStar

Financial and NovaStar Mortgage’s mortgage loan portfolio.

Actual results may differ from the estimates and assumptions

used in the model and the projected results as shown in the sen-

sitivity analyses. Management evaluates and updates the model

periodically as the market changes and new data is collected.

NovaStar Financial’s projected prepayment rates are based on

a prepayment vector and in each interest rate scenario start at a

prepayment speed less than 5% in month one and increase to a

long-term prepayment speed in nine to 18 months, to account

for the seasoning of the loans. The long-term prepayment speed

ranges from 20% to 40% and depends on the characteristics of

the loan which include type of product (ARM or fixed rate),

note rate, credit grade, LTV, gross margin, weighted average

maturity and lifetime and periodic caps and floors. This prepay-

ment vector is also multiplied by a factor of 55% to 70%

depending on the length and type of penalty periods when a pre-

payment penalty is in effect on the loan. Prepayment assump-

tions are also multiplied by a factor of greater than 100% during

periods around rate resets and prepayment penalty expirations.

These assumptions change with levels of interest rates. The actual

historical speeds experienced on NovaStar Financial’s loans shown

in Table 5 are weighted average speeds of all loans in each deal. 

As shown in Table 5, actual prepayment rates on loans that

have been held in portfolio for shorter periods are slower than

long term prepayment rates used in the interest rate sensitivity

analysis. This table also indicates that as pools of loans held in

portfolio season, the actual prepayment rates are more consistent

with the long term prepayment rates used in the interest sensitiv-

ity analysis. 

Hedging with Off-Balance-Sheet Financial Instruments.  In order to

address a mismatch of assets and liabilities, the hedging section

of the investment policy is followed, as approved by the Board.

Specifically, the interest rate risk management program is for-

mulated with the intent to offset the potential adverse effects

resulting from rate adjustment limitations on its mortgage assets

and the differences between interest rate adjustment indices and

interest rate adjustment periods of its adjustable-rate mortgage

loans and related borrowings. 

NovaStar Financial uses interest rate cap and swap contracts to

mitigate the risk of the cost of its variable rate liabilities increas-

ing at a faster rate than the earnings on its assets during a period

of rising rates. In this way, management intends generally to

hedge as much of the interest rate risk as determined to be in the

best interest of NovaStar Financial, given the cost of hedging

transactions and the need to maintain REIT status. 

NovaStar Financial seeks to build a balance sheet and under-

take an interest rate risk management program that is likely, in

management’s view, to enable NovaStar Financial to maintain an

equity liquidation value sufficient to maintain operations given a

variety of potentially adverse circumstances. Accordingly, the

hedging program addresses both income preservation, as discussed

in the first part of this section, and capital preservation concerns. 

Interest rate cap agreements are legal contracts between

NovaStar Financial and a third party firm or “counter-party”.

The counter-party agrees to make payments to NovaStar

Financial in the future should the one- or three-month LIBOR

interest rate rise above the strike rate specified in the contract.

NovaStar Financial either makes quarterly premium payments or

has chosen to pay the premiums upfront to the counterparties

under contract. Each contract has a fixed notional face amount

on which the interest is computed, and a set term to maturity.

When the referenced LIBOR interest rate rises above the con-

tractual strike rate, NovaStar Financial earns cap income.

Payments on an annualized basis equal the contractual notional

face amount times the difference between actual LIBOR and the

strike rate. 

Interest rate swap agreements are also legal contracts between

NovaStar Financial and a third party firm or “counter-party”. In

this type of an agreement, NovaStar Financial agrees to pay a

fixed rate to the counter-party and receive a floating rate from

the counter-party, usually based on one or three-month

LIBOR. These contracts also have a fixed notional amount on

which the interest is computed and a set term to maturity.

Inflation 

Virtually all assets and liabilities of NovaStar Financial are

financial in nature. As a result, interest rates and other factors

drive company performance far more than does inflation.

Changes in interest rates do not necessarily correlate with infla-

tion rates or changes in inflation rates. The financial statements

of NovaStar Financial are prepared in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and the dividends are based on

taxable income. In each case, financial activities and balance

sheet are measured with reference to historical cost or fair mar-

ket value without considering inflation. 

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting

Pronouncements 

Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements describes cer-

tain recently issued accounting pronouncements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Dollars in thousands, except share amounts)

December 31,

2000 1999
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,518 $ 2,395
Mortgage loans 375,927 620,406
Mortgage securities - available-for-sale 46,650 6,775
Advances to and investment in NFI Holding Corporation 45,415 29,278
Assets acquired through foreclosure 13,054 16,891
Accrued interest receivable 9,151 12,452
Other assets 1,767 1,230

Total assets $ 494,482 $ 689,427

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

Liabilities:

Borrowings $ 382,437 $ 586,868
Accounts payable and other liabilities 3,601 1,873
Dividends payable 525 525

Total liabilities 386,563 589,266

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders' equity:

Capital stock, $0.01 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized:

Class B, convertible preferred stock, 4,285,714 shares issued and

outstanding as of December 31, 2000 43 43
Common stock, 6,094,595 and 7,460,523 shares issued 

and outstanding, respectively 61 75
Additional paid-in capital 141,997 147,587
Accumulated deficit (37,976) (41,502)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 10,168 242
Notes receivable from founders (6,374) (6,284)

Total stockholders' equity 107,919 100,161
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 494,482 $ 689,427

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

N ovaStar Financial, I n c.
a nn u a l  r e p o r t  2000
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 

For the Year Ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998

Interest income on mortgage loans $ 44,676 $ 66,324 $ 76,751
Interest expense on mortgage loans 33,964 46,758 58,174

Net interest income 10,712 19,566 18,577
Prepayment penalty income 1,776 3,143 1,985
Provision for credit losses (5,449) (22,078) (7,430)
Premiums for mortgage loan insurance (1,272) (1,731) (744)
Loan servicing fees paid to NFI Holding Corporation. (2,502) (3,886) (3,803)

Net loan portfolio income (loss) 3,265 (4,986) 8,585

Interest income on mortgage-backed securities 2,951 389 23,996
Interest expense on mortgage-backed securities 732 — 22,620
Net interest income on mortgage-backed securities 2,219 389 1,376

Net fees for other services provided to (by) NFI 

Holding Corporation 2,481 (145) (2,683)
Gain (loss) on sales of mortgage assets (826) 351 (14,962)
Loss on termination of interest rate agreements — — (7,977)
Other income 381 801 1,203

Equity in net income (loss) of NFI Holding Corporation 1,123 88 (2,984)

General and administrative expenses:

Compensation and benefits 1,485 1,804 1,785
Office administration 751 804 903
Professional and outside services 690 801 1,117
Other 91 181 574
Total general and administrative expenses 3,017 3,590 4,379

Net income (loss) 5,626 (7,092) (21,821)
Dividends on preferred shares 2,100 1,606 —

Net income (loss) available to common shareholders $ 3,526 $ (8,698) $ (21,821)

Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic $ 0.51 $ (1.08) $ (2.71)

Diluted $ 0.50 $ (1.08) $ (2.71)

Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic 6,851 8,032 8,057

Diluted 11,143 8,032 8,057
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

N ovaStar Financial, I n c.
a nn u a l  r e p o r t  2000
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(Dollars in thousands, except share amounts) 

Accumulated

Convertible Additional Other Notes Total 

Preferred Common Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Receivable Stockholders'

Stock Stock Capital Deficit Income from Founders Equity

Balance, January 1, 1998 $78 $117,201 $(2,859) $ 4,353 $(3,047) $115,726
Initial public offering of common stock issuance costs – (88) – – – (88)
Exercise of stock options and warrants 3 5,184 – – (4,340) 847
Issuance of additional notes receivable from founders – – – – (80) (80)
Interest accrued on notes receivable from founders, 

net of payments – – – – (260) (260)
Change in fair value of restricted stock awards

underlying forgivable notes – (1,390) – – 1,390 –
Dividends on common stock ($1.00 per share) – – (8,124) – – (8,124)

Comprehensive loss:

Net loss (21,821) – (21,821)
Other comprehensive loss–change in unrealized

gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities (4,353) (4,353)

Total comprehensive loss (21,821) (4,353) (26,174)
Balance, December 31, 1998 81 120,907 (32,804) – (6,337) 81,847
Proceeds from preferred stock issuance,

net of costs of $1,323 $43 – 28,635 – – – 28,678
Exercise of stock options and warrants – – 8 – – – 8
Issuance of additional notes receivable from founders – – – – – (70) (70)
Warrants issued – – 350 – – – 350
Common stock repurchased, 673,400 shares – (6) (1,871) – – – (1,877)
Interest accrued on notes receivable from founders,

net of payments – – – – – (319) (319)
Change in fair value of restricted stock awards

underlying forgivable notes – – (442) – – 442 –
Dividends on preferred stock ($0.37 per share) – – – (1,606) – – (1,606)
Comprehensive income (loss):

Net loss (7,092) – (7,092)
Other comprehensive income—change

in unrealized gain (loss)

on available-for-sale securities – 242 242

Total comprehensive income (loss) (7,092) 242 (6,850)

Balance, December 31, 1999 43 75 147,587 (41,502) 242 (6,284) 100,161
Exercise of stock options and warrants – – 24 – – – 24
Common stock repurchased, 1,376,766 shares – (14) (5,704) – – – (5,718)
Change in fair value of restricted stock awards

underlying forgivable notes – – 90 – – (90) –
Dividends on preferred stock ($0.49 per share) – – – (2,100) – – (2,100)
Comprehensive income:

Net income 5,626 – 5,626
Other comprehensive income–change

in unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities – 9,926 9,926
Total comprehensive income 5,626 9,926 15,552

Balance, December 31, 2000 $43 $61 $141,997 $(37,976) $10,168 $(6,374) $107,919

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

N ovaStar Financial, I n c.
a nn u a l  r e p o r t  2000
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands) 

For the Year Ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998
Cash flow from operating activities:

Net income (loss) $ 5,626 $ (7,092) $ (21,821)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash provided by operating activities:

Amortization of premiums on mortgage assets 4,944 8,088 7,620
Amortization of deferred debt costs 1,141 2,271 4,562
Provision for credit losses 5,449 22,078 7,430
Equity in net loss (income) of NFI Holding Corporation (1,123) (88) 2,984
Losses (gains) on sales of mortgage assets 826 (351) 14,962
Loss on terminations of interest rate agreements – – 7,977
Change in:

Accrued interest receivable 3,301 5,156 (6,807)
Other assets (814) 73 (1,638)
Other liabilities 1,869 (300) (9,219)

Net cash provided by operating activities 21,219 29,835 6,050

Cash flow from investing activities:

Mortgage loans purchased from NovaStar Mortgage, Inc. – – (556,158)
Mortgage loans sold to others – 4,932 8,307
Mortgage loan repayments 201,880 260,109 161,237
Proceeds from sales of assets acquired through foreclosure 35,263 24,228 6,815
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities – – 705,906
Proceeds from paydowns on available-for-sale securities 3,653 882 165,233
Investment in NFI Holding Corporation – (7,000) (990)
Net change in advances to NFI Holding Corporation (48,526) (8,127) (390,919)

Net cash provided  by investing activities 192,270 275,024 99,431

Cash flow from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of asset-backed bonds – – 665,000
Payments on asset-backed bonds (230,572) (307,318) (179,851)
Debt issuance costs paid on asset-backed bonds – – (2,821)
Change in short-term borrowings 25,000 (18,029) (581,693)
Proceeds from issuance of capital stock and exercise of equity instruments,

net of offering costs 24 28,686 (54)
Common stock repurchases (5,718) (1,877) –
Dividends paid on preferred stock (2,100) (1,081) –
Dividends paid on common stock – (2,845) (6,062)

Net cash used in financing activities (213,366) (302,464) (105,481)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 123 2,395 –
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 2,395 – –
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 2,518 $ 2,395 $ –

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest $ 34,610 $ 48,397 $ 80,604
Purchases of available-for-sale securities $ (33,371) $ – $ (375,051)
Note received in exchange for options exercised by founders $ – $ – $ 4,591
Issuance of warrants $ – $ 350 $ 813
Dividends payable $ 525 $ 525 $ 2,845
Assets acquired through foreclosure $ 34,596 $ 30,966 $ 17,242

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

N ovaStar Financial, I n c.
a nn u a l  r e p o r t  2000
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NovaStar Financial, Inc. (the Company) is a Maryland

corporation formed on September 13, 1996. The Company

manages a portfolio of mortgage assets primarily consisting

of non-conforming mortgage loans.

Financial Statement Presentation. The Company's

financial statements have been prepared in conformity with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

of America and prevailing practices within the financial serv-

ices industry. The preparation of financial statements

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the

date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of

income and expense during the period. The Company uses

estimates and employs the judgements of management in

determining the amount of its allowance for credit losses,

amortizing premiums or accreting discounts on its mortgage

assets, and establishing the fair value of its mortgage securi-

ties. While the financial statements and footnotes reflect the

best estimates and judgments of management at the time,

actual results could differ from those estimates. For example,

it is possible that credit losses or prepayments could rise to

levels that would adversely affect profitability if those levels

were sustained for more than brief periods.

The Company owns 100% of the common stock of three

special purpose entities – NovaStar Assets Corporation,

NovaStar Mortgage Funding Corporation and NovaStar

Certificates Financing Corporation. The Company formed

these entities in connection with the issuance of asset-backed

bonds. The consolidated financial statements of the

Company include the accounts of these entities. Significant

intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminat -

ed during consolidation.

The Company also owns 100% of the nonvoting preferred

stock of NFI Holding Corporation, for which it receives 99%

of any dividends paid by NFI Holding Corporation. The

founders of the Company own 100% of the common stock of

NFI Holding Corporation and serve as officers and directors

of NFI Holding Corporation and its subsidiaries. The

Company accounts for its investment in NFI Holding

Corporation using the equity method. The preferred stock

was purchased in February 1997 for $1,980,000 and the

Company contributed $7,000,000 and $990,000 of capital

to NFI Holding Corporation during 1999 and 1998, respec-

tively. As discussed in Note 15, the common stock of NFI

Holding Corporation was acquired by the Company subse-

quent to December 31, 2000.

NFI Holding Corporation owns 100% of the outstanding

common stock of NovaStar Mortgage, Inc. NovaStar

Mortgage originated a substantial portion of the non-con-

forming residential mortgage loans owned by the Company

and services all of the loans owned by the Company.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. The Company considers

investments with maturities of three months or less at the

date of purchase to be cash equivalents.

Mortgage Loans. Mortgage loans include loans acquired

from NovaStar Mortgage and in bulk pools from other origi-

nators and securities dealers. Mortgage loans are generally

purchased at a premium over the outstanding principal bal-

ance and are stated at amortized cost. Premiums are amor-

tized and discounts accreted as yield adjustments over the

estimated lives of the loans using a method that approximates

the interest method. Amortization includes the effect of pre-

payments.

Interest is recognized as revenue when earned according to

the terms of the mortgage loans and when, in the opinion of

management, it is collectible.  The accrual of interest on

loans is discontinued when, in management's opinion, the

interest is not collectible in the normal course of business,

but in no case beyond when a loan becomes ninety days

delinquent. Interest collected on non-accrual loans is recog-

nized as income upon receipt.

The Company maintains an allowance for credit losses

inherent in the portfolio at the balance sheet date. The

allowance is based upon the assessment by management of

various factors affecting its mortgage loan portfolio, includ-

ing current and projected economic conditions, the makeup

of the portfolio based on credit grade, loan-to-value, delin-

quency status, Company purchased mortgage insurance and

other factors deemed to warrant consideration. The

allowance is maintained through ongoing provisions charged

to operating income and is reduced by loans that are charged

off.

Mortgage Securities. The Company classifies all of its

mortgage securities as available-for-sale and, therefore,

reports them at their estimated fair value with unrealized

gains and losses reported as a separate component of stock-

holders' equity. Premiums are amortized and discounts are

accreted as yield adjustments over the estimated lives of the

securities using  the interest method. Amortization includes

the effect of prepayments. Gains or losses on sales of securi-

ties are recognized using the specific identification method.

Assets Acquired Through Foreclosure. Real estate owned,

which consists of residential real estate acquired in satisfac-

tion of loans, is carried at the lower of cost or estimated fair

value less estimated selling costs. Adjustments to the loan

carrying value required at time of foreclosure are charged

N ovaStar Financial, I n c.
a nn u a l  r e p o r t  2000

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2000

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
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against the allowance for credit losses. Losses or gains from

the ultimate disposition of real estate owned are charged or

credited to operating income.

Transfers of Assets. The Company uses the financial com-

ponents approach when accounting for transfers of mortgage

loans in repurchase and securitization transactions. When the

Company retains control over the loans, repurchase and

securitization transactions are accounted for as secured bor -

rowings rather than as sales. The borrowings under repur-

chase agreements and asset-backed bonds included in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets represent the

remaining principal amount of funds received in the trans-

fer. 

Retained Interests in Securitizations. The Company typ-

ically purchases retained interests in securitizations of resi-

dential mortgage loans offered by its affiliate, NovaStar

Mortgage, Inc. To determine the fair value of these retained

interests, the Company generally estimates fair value based on

the present value of future expected cash flows estimated

using management’s best estimate of the key assumptions –

credit losses, prepayment speeds, forward yield curves, and

discount rates commensurate with the risks involved.

Stock-based Compensation. Compensation expense for

services the Company receives as consideration for stock

issued through its employee stock option plans is measured by

the quoted market price of the stock at the measurement date

less the amount, if any, that the employee is required to pay.

Income Taxes. The Company intends to operate and qual-

ify as a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) under the

requirements of the Internal Revenue Code. Therefore, the

Company, and its qualified REIT subsidiaries, will generally

not be subject to federal income taxes at the corporate level

on taxable income distributed to stockholders. Requirements

for qualification as a REIT include various restrictions on

common stock ownership and the nature of assets and sources

of income. In addition, a REIT must distribute at least 95%

of its annual taxable income to its stockholders. As a result of

a change in IRS Tax Code, beginning January 1, 2001, the

Company will be required to distribute 90% of its annual

taxable income to its stockholders in order to retain its REIT

status. If in any tax year, the Company does not qualify as a

REIT, it will be taxed as a corporation and distributions to

stockholders will not be deductible in computing taxable

income. If the Company fails to qualify as a REIT in any tax

year, it will not be permitted to qualify for the succeeding

four years. The most significant difference between earnings

as presented herein and taxable income relates to provisions

made to the allowance for credit losses, which are not

deductible for income tax purposes. NFI Holding

Corporation has not elected REIT-status and files a consoli-

dated federal income tax return with its subsidiaries.

Net income (Loss) Per Share. Basic income (loss) per

share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net

income (loss) available to common stockholders by the

weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for

the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that

could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common

stock were exercised or converted into common stock or

resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in

the earnings of the entity. Diluted EPS is calculated assuming

all options and warrants on the Company’s common stock

have been exercised and the convertible preferred stock is

converted, unless the exercise would be anti-dilutive.

Financial Instruments with Off-balance-sheet Risk. The

Company has entered into interest rate swap and cap agree-

ments designed to, in effect, alter the interest rates on its

funding costs to more closely match the yield on interest-

earning assets. Net income earned from or expense incurred

on interest rate swap and cap agreements is accounted for on

the accrual method and is recorded as an adjustment of

interest expense. The gain or loss on early termination, sale

or disposition of an interest rate swap or cap agreement is

recognized in current earnings if the matched funding source

is also extinguished. If the matched funding source is not

extinguished, the unrealized gain or loss on the related inter-

est rate swap or cap agreement is deferred and amortized as a

component of interest expense over the remaining term of

the matched funding source. Unmatched swap or cap agree-

ments are recorded at fair value with changes in the unreal-

ized gains or losses recorded in current earnings.

New Accounting Pronouncements. During 1998, the

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS

No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities". As amended by SFAS No. 137,

"Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging

Activities—Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB Statement

No. 133" and SFAS No. 138, "Accounting for Certain

Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities, an

amendment of FASB Statement No. 133," SFAS No. 133

standardizes the accounting for derivative instruments,

including certain instruments embedded in other contracts,

by requiring that an entity recognize those items as assets or

liabilities in the balance sheet and measure them at fair value.

If certain conditions are met, an entity may elect to designate

a derivative instrument either as a cash flow hedge, a fair

value hedge or a hedge of foreign currency exposure.

Generally, SFAS No. 133 requires derivative instruments to

be recorded at their fair value with hedge ineffectiveness rec-

ognized in earnings. 

Management has reviewed all financial instruments of

NovaStar Financial and has determined that NovaStar

Financial’s interest rate cap agreements are derivative instru-

ments as defined by SFAS No. 133. These derivatives are used

to hedge the interest rate risk on variable rate debt and will be

accounted for as cash flow hedges under SFAS No. 133. The

Company adopted SFAS 133 on January 1, 2001 and the

N ovaStar Financial, I n c.
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Note 2. Mortgage Loans

Note 3. Mortgage Securities — available-for-sale

Mortgage loans, all of which are secured by residential properties,

consisted of the following as of December 31 (in thousands).

2000 1999
Outstanding principal $375,872 $618,822
Net unamortized premium 7,745 12,689
Amortized cost 383,617 631,511
Allowance for credit losses (7,690) (11,105)

$375,927 $620,406

Activity in the allowance for credit losses is as follows for the

three years ended December 31, 2000 (in thousands)

2000 1999 1998
Balance, January 1 $11,105 $ 3,573 $2,313
Provision for credit losses 5,449 22,078 7,430
Amounts charged off,

net of recoveries (8,864) (14,546) (6,170)
Balance, December 31 $ 7,690 $11,105 $3,573

Recoveries for the three years ended December 31, 2000

were insignificant. All mortgage loans serve as collateral for

borrowing arrangements discussed in Note 4. The weighted-

average interest rate on loans as of December 31, 2000 and

1999 was 11.02% and 10.30%, respectively.

Collateral for 16%, 15% and 6% of the mortgage loans

outstanding as of December 31, 2000 was located in Florida,

California and Washington, respectively. The Company has

no other significant concentration of credit risk.

As of December 31, 2000, available-for-sale mortgage

securities consisted of the Company’s investment in the sub-

ordinated and interest-only bond portions of NovaStar

Mortgage Funding Trust, Series 2000-2, 2000-1, and

1999-1 (NMFT 2000-2, 2000-1, and 1999-1) which were

issued by NovaStar Mortgage as Real Estate Mortgage

Investment Conduits.  The primary (A-class) bonds were

sold to parties independent of the Company and its affiliates.

The Company purchased the subordinated and interest-only

bonds from NovaStar Mortgage. No active trading market for

the purchase and sale of the retained securities exists.

Therefore, management estimates their value by discounting

the expected future cash flow of the collateral and bonds.

As of December 31, 2000, key economic assumptions and

the sensitivity of the current fair value of retained interests

owned by the Company to immediate adverse changes in

those assumptions are as follows (dollars in thousands):
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transition adjustment is discussed in Note 5.

During September 2000, the FASB issued SFAS No. 140,

"Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets

and Extinguishments of Liabilities – a replacement of FASB

Statement No. 125". Although SFAS No. 140 revises many of

the rules regarding securitizations, it continues to require an

entity to recognize the financial and servicing assets it con-

trols and the liabilities it has incurred and to derecognize

financial assets when control has been surrendered in accor-

dance with the criteria provided in the Statement. This state-

ment is effective for transfers and servicing of financial assets

and extinguishments of liabilities occurring after March 31,

2001 and is effective for recognition and reclassification of

collateral for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2000.

Disclosure about securitizations and collateral accepted need

not be reported for periods ending on or before December

15, 2000, for which financial statements are presented for

comparative purposes. Implementation of the recognition

and classification portion of SFAS No. 140 had no impact

on the financial statements of the Company. Accounting for

future transfers of assets will be evaluated based on the terms

of individual transactions.

During 1999, the FASB issued EITF No. 99-20,

"Recognition of Interest Income and Impairment on

Purchased and Retained Beneficial Interests in Securitized

Financial Assets." Effective the second quarter of 2001, EITF

No. 99-20 provides guidance on the recognition of interest

income from, and measurement of retained beneficial inter-

ests. Management does not believe the implementation of

EITF No. 99-20 will have a material effect on the

Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Reclassifications. Certain reclassifications of prior year

amounts have been made to conform to current year pre s e n t a t i o n .
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NMFT 2000-2 NMFT 2000-1 NMFT 1999-1 Total

Carrying amount/fair value of retained interests $24,800 $14,950 $6,900 $46,650
Weighted-average life (in years) 2.47 2.49 2.46

Prepayment speed assumption (annual rate) 32% 32% 32%
Fair value after a 10% adverse change $24,000 $14,475 $6,675 $45,150
Fair value after a 20% adverse change 23,320 14,040 6,470 43,830
Expected credit losses (annual rate) 1.02% 1.07% 2.48%

Fair value after a 10% adverse change $24,765 $14,850 $6,740 $46,355
Fair value after a 20% adverse change 24,550 14,700 6,500 45,750
Residual cash flows discount rate (annual) 15% 14.8% 16.5%

Fair value after a 200 basis point adverse change $24,656 $14,770 $6,810 $46,236
Fair value after a 400 basis point adverse change 24,170 14,540 6,695 45,405

Interest rates on variable and adjustable contracts Forward one-month LIBOR yield curve

plus contracted spread

Fair value after a 50 basis point adverse change $22,735 $13,750 $6,935 $43,420
Fair value after a 100 basis point adverse change 19,570 12,700 6,925 39,195

Credit Losses (%) NMFT 2000-2 NMFT 2000-1 NMFT 1999-1

Projected as of December 31, 2002 0.24% 0.30% 2.12%
Projected as of December 31, 2001 0.03% 0.13% 1.79%
Actual as of December 31, 2000 — — 0.94%

December 31,

Total Principal Principal Amount of Net Credit Losses

Amount of Loans Loans 30 Days or During the Year

More Past Due Ended December 31

2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999
NMFT 2000-2 $333,865 $          – $  3,401 $        – $      – $   –
NMFT 2000-1 216,216 – 11,719 – – –
NMFT 1999-1 103,968 143,328 14,371 14,496 1,184 –

Static pool losses are calculated by summing the actual

and projected future credit losses and dividing them by the

original balance of each pool of assets.

The table below presents quantitative information about

delinquencies, net credit losses, and components of securi-

tized financial assets and other assets managed together with

them (in thousands):

These sensitivities are hypothetical and should be used

with caution.  As the figures indicate, changes in fair value

based on a 10% variation in assumptions generally cannot

be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in

assumption to the change in fair value may not be linear.

Also, in this table the effect of a variation in a particular

assumption on the fair value of the retained interest is cal-

culated without changing any other assumption; in reality,

changes in one factor may result in changes in another (for

example, increases in market interest rates may result in

lower prepayments and increased credit losses), which

might magnify or counteract the sensitivities.

Actual and projected static pool credit losses in

retained interests are as follows:

N ovaStar Financial, I n c.
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Asset-backed Bonds (ABB) The Company also issued

ABB secured by its mortgage loans as a means for long-term

financing. For financial reporting and tax purposes, the

mortgage loans held as collateral are recorded as assets of the

Company and the ABB are recorded as debt. Interest and

principal on each ABB is payable only from principal and

interest on the underlying mortgage loans collateralizing the

ABB. Interest rates reset monthly and are indexed to one-

month LIBOR. The estimated weighted-average months to

maturity is based on estimates and assumptions made by

management. The actual maturity may differ from expecta-

tions. However, the Company retains the option to repay the

ABB, and reacquire the mortgage loans, when the remaining

unpaid principal balance of the underlying mortgage loans

falls below 35% of their original amounts for issue 1997-1

and 25% on 1997-2, 1998-1 and 1998-2. Following is a

summary of outstanding ABB and related loans (dollars in

thousands):
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Note 4.  Borrowings

Asset-backed Bonds Mortgage Loans

Estimated

Remaining Weighted Weighted

Remaining Interest Principal Average Average Months

Principal Rate (A) Coupon to Call

As of December 31, 2000:

NovaStar Home Equity Series:

Issue 1997-1 $ 48,121 7.13% $  52,910 11.80% _
Issue 1997-2 51,114 6.91 55,736 11.55 1
Issue 1998-1 105,780 6.92 117,121 11.03 11
Issue 1998-2 153,508 6.86 163,039 10.57 23
Unamortized debt issuance costs, net (1,086)

$ 357,437
As of December 31, 1999:

NovaStar Home Equity Series:

Issue 1997-1 $ 75,580 6.94% $  87,534 11.04% _
Issue 1997-2 95,053 6.72 104,851 10.90 13
Issue 1998-1 186,493 6.55 200,625 10.08 23
Issue 1998-2 231,969 6.71 244,109 9.97 35
Unamortized debt issuance costs, net (2,227)

$ 586,868

(A) Includes assets acquired through foreclosure.

Short-term Financing Arrangements. The Company is a

co-borrower with NovaStar Mortgage under warehouse lend-

ing and master repurchase agreements with First Union

National Bank. The Company and NovaStar Mortgage can

borrow up to $75 million under the warehouse lending

agreement and $175 million under the master repurchase

agreement. As of December 31, 2000 and 1999, the

Company had no borrowings outstanding and NovaStar

Mortgage had borrowings of $24,843,000 and

$78,448,000 outstanding under these arrangements,

respectively. Borrowings are secured by mortgage loans

owned by NovaStar Mortgage. The interest rate on borrow-

ings under the warehouse lending arrangement is indexed to

the Federal funds rate. Under the master repurchase agree-

ment, borrowings are indexed to one-month LIBOR. These

agreements expire on July 27, 2001. Upon expiration, the

Company expects to renew these arrangements on substan-

tially the same terms.

Under the terms of two additional repurchase agreements,

the Company and/or NovaStar Mortgage can borrow up to

$25 million from First Union National Bank secured by sub-

ordinated securities classes of asset-backed bonds issued by

the Company, its affiliates or subsidiaries. Borrowings under

these arrangements generally bear interest at one-month

LIBOR plus a spread depending on the nature of the collat-

eral. These agreements expire on December 17, 2001. The

Company had $25,000,000 outstanding under these agree-

ments as of December 31, 2000. In connection with the exe-

cution of the financing agreements with First Union, the

Company issued First Union warrants for the purchase of the

Company’s stock (see Note 7.).

The Company is also a co-borrower under a warehouse

lending agreement with GMAC/Residential Funding

Corporation (GMAC/RFC). The Company and/or NovaStar

Mortgage can borrow up to $50 million under this agree-

ment. NovaStar Mortgage had borrowings of $12,057,000

under this agreement as of December 31, 2000. Borrowings

are secured by mortgage loans owned by the Company or



All short-term financing arrangements require the

Company and NovaStar Mortgage to maintain minimum

tangible net worth, meet a minimum equity ratio test and

comply with other customary debt covenants. The Company

and NovaStar Mortgage complied with all debt covenants

through December 31, 2000.

The Company’s interest rate cap agreements result in off-

balance-sheet risk. These instruments involve, to varying

degrees, elements of credit and market risk in addition to the

amount recognized in the financial statements.

Credit Risk The Company’s exposure to credit risk on

interest rate cap agreements is limited to the cost of replacing

contracts should the counterparty fail. The Company seeks to

minimize credit risk through the use of credit approval and

review processes, the selection of only the most creditworthy

counterparties, continuing review and monitoring of all

counterparties, exposure reduction techniques and thorough

legal scrutiny of agreements. Before engaging in negotiated

derivative transactions with any counterparty, the Company

has in place fully executed written agreements. Agreements

with counterparties also call for full two-way netting of pay-

ments. Under these agreements, on each payment exchange

date all gains and losses of counterparties are netted into a

single amount, limiting exposure to the counterparty to any

net positive value.

Market Risk The potential for financial loss due to adverse

changes in market interest rates is a function of the sensitivity

of each position to changes in interest rates, the degree to

which each position can affect future earnings under adverse

market conditions, the source and nature of funding for the

position, and the net effect due to offsetting positions. The

synthetic product of these transactions is a "matched" posi-

tion for the Company.  The combination of off-balance-

sheet instruments with on-balance-sheet liabilities leaves the

Company in a market risk position that is designed to be a

better position than if the derivative had not been used in

interest rate risk management. Derivatives instruments used

in matched transactions as described above are classified as

derivatives held for purposes other than trading. No deriva-

tives were held for trading purposes during the three years

ended December 31, 2000.

Other Risk Considerations The Company is cognizant of

the risks involved with financial derivatives. The Company's

policies and procedures seek to mitigate risk associated with

the use of financial derivatives in ways appropriate to its

business activities, considering its risk profile as a limited

end-user.

Information regarding the Company’s financial instru-

ments with off-balance-sheet risk is as follows (dollars in

thousands).
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NovaStar Mortgage and bear interest at a rate indexed to

one-month LIBOR. The agreement expires on February 28,

2001.

The Company had a short-term financing arrangement

with GMAC/RFC secured by residual interests in the

Company’s ABB. In 1998, the Company borrowed $15 mil-

lion from GMAC/RFC. As discussed in Note 7, in connec-

tion with the agreement, the Company issued warrants to

GMAC/RFC for the purchase of the Company’s stock. The

financing fee and the estimated value of the warrants

($813,000) were recognized as additional interest expense in

1998. All amounts were repaid in February 1999.

Average daily balances for short-term borrowings of the

Company were as follows (in thousands).
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Note 5.  Financial Instruments with Off-balance-sheet Risk

2000 1999 1998
Repurchase agreements secured by mortgage securities $ 9,172 $ — $ 392,854
Borrowings under warehouse lines of credit — — 14,991
Repurchase agreements secured by mortgage loans — — 118,380
Other short-term borrowings — 4,206 3,945
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Unrealized Weighted Weighted

Notional Days to Average

Value Gains Losses Maturity Cap Rate

As of December 31, 2000:

Interest rate cap agreements $340,000 $   – $1,349 400 6.76%
As of December 31, 1999:

Interest rate cap agreements $430,000 $778 $      – 578 6.45%

Note 6.  Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following disclosure of the estimated fair value of

financial instruments presents amounts that have been deter-

mined using available market information and appropriate

valuation methodologies. However, considerable judgment is

required to interpret market data to develop the estimates of

fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are

not necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be real-

ized in a current market exchange. The use of different mar-

ket assumptions or estimation methodologies could have a

material impact on the estimated fair value amounts.

During the three years ended December 31, 2000, the

Company recognized $4,000, $2,254,000, and

$2,891,000, respectively, in interest expense relating to off-

balance-sheet financial instruments. In 1998, the Company

terminated interest rate agreements with an aggregate

notional value of $469 million because of the sale of the

Company’s portfolio of mortgage securities and repayment

of the related financing under repurchase agreements,

incurring net losses of $7,977,000.

The Company adopted SFAS 133 on January 1, 2001. The

transition adjustment recognized upon adoption decreased

earnings $1.4 million and increased accumulated other com-

prehensive income $34,000, which represents the difference

between the interest rate caps’ carrying value at January 1,

2001 and their fair value. The Company is required to

exclude from its assessment of hedge effectiveness changes in

the time value of its interest rate caps, which must be adjust-

ed through earnings as hedge ineffectiveness. Changes in

intrinsic value is adjusted through other comprehensive

income.

The Company’s interest rate caps are effective as cash flow

hedges. Therefore, the transition adjustment to earnings of

$1.4 million resulted from the difference between the

recorded time value of the interest rate caps and their esti-

mated time value based on market information on January 1,

2001, rather than an adjustment of their intrinsic value for

any ineffectiveness.

The fair value of all financial instruments is estimated by

discounting projected future cash flows, including projected

prepayments for mortgage assets, at current market rates.

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents and accrued

interest receivable and payable approximates its carrying

value.

The estimated fair values of the Company's financial instruments are as follows as of December 31 (in thousands).

2000 1999
Carrying Carrying

Value Fair Value Value Fair Value

Financial assets:

Mortgage loans $375,927 $371,904 $620,406 $612,144
Mortgage securities - available-for-sale 46,650 46,650 6,775 6,775

Financial liabilities:

Borrowings 382,437 382,646 586,868 587,245
Off-balance-sheet financial instruments 1,510 161 594 1,372
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Note 7. Stockholders’ Equity

On March 29, 1999, the Company completed a private

placement of preferred stock by issuing 4,285,714 shares of

class B, 7% cumulative convertible preferred stock for $7 per

share and received net proceeds of $28.7 million. The pre-

ferred stock pays a dividend equal to the greater of 7% or the

dividend rate paid on common stock. Each share of pre-

ferred stock is convertible, at the option of the holder, into

one share of common stock and is redeemable for $7 per

share by the Company any time after March 31, 2002.

As of December 31, 2000, the Company has the following

warrants outstanding for the purchase of Company common

stock.

Exercise Expiration

Quantity Price Date

4,014,800 $11.62 2001
350,000 6.94 2002
812,731 4.56 2003

5,177,531

The founders of the Company were issued 261,866 of the

warrants expiring in 2001 (see Note 8). The warrants that

expire in 2002 and 2003 were issued to First Union and

GMAC/RFC, respectively, in connection with the execution

of short-term financing arrangements as discussed in Note 4.

The Company’s Board of Directors has approved the pur-

chase of up to $9,000,000 of the Company’s common

stock. During the year ended December 31, 2000 and 1999,

1,376,766 and 673,400 shares, respectively, were purchased.

The aggregate purchase price for these shares was

$5,718,000 and $1,877,000, respectively. The purchased

shares have been returned to the Company’s authorized but

unissued shares of common stock. All common stock pur-

chases are charged against additional paid-in capital.

Note 8. Transactions with Founders

In connection with the initial formation and capitalization

of the Company, the founders acquired 216,666 shares of

common stock along with warrants to acquire 216,666 addi-

tional shares in exchange for non-recourse forgivable prom-

issory notes. Pursuant to the terms of the agreements, the

notes were to be forgiven if certain incentive targets were

met. The targets were met in 1997, and notes related to

72,222 shares were forgiven. The incentive targets were not

met in 1998, 1999, or 2000 and, accordingly, no debt for-

giveness occurred in those years. For accounting purposes,

the arrangement has been accounted for as a restricted stock

award, and the notes receivable included in the accompany-

ing consolidated balance sheets have been adjusted to an

amount equal to the fair value of the remaining unearned

shares at each balance sheet date. The Company rolled

$260,000 of accrued interest recognized in 1997 on these

notes from the founders into principal of new notes.

During 1998, the founders exercised options to acquire

289,332 shares of common stock in exchange for non-

recourse promissory notes aggregating $4,340,000.

The Company advanced $584,000 to the founders for the

payment of their personal tax liability arising from the 1997

forgiveness referred to above and advanced $70,000 in

order for the founders to inject capital into NFI Holding

Corporation in 1999. Additionally, accrued interest balances

related to the borrowings above aggregated $579,000 at

December 31, 2000 and December 31, 1999.

No interest was recorded or received by the Company dur-

ing 2000 relating to the above notes. Interest income

recorded by the Company related to the notes aggregated

$496,000 and $441,000 in 1999 and 1998, respectively.

Interest paid by the founders aggregated $177,000 in 1999.

Amounts outstanding under the arrangement described

above have been classified as a reduction of stockholders’

equity in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and

may be summarized as follows (in thousands):

December 31

2000 1999
Forgivable notes, as adjusted for

changes in fair value of underlying

Company common shares $ 541 $ 451
Non-recourse notes 4,340 4,340
Tax notes 584 584
Capitalization notes 70 70
1997 accrued interest notes 260 260
Accrued interest 579 579

$6,374 $6,284



The Company's 1996 Stock Option Plan (the Plan) pro-

vides for the grant of qualified incentive stock options

(ISOs), non-qualified stock options (NQSOs), deferred

stock, restricted stock, performance shares, stock apprecia-

tion and limited stock awards, and dividend equivalent rights

(DERs). ISOs may be granted to the officers and employees

of the Company. NQSOs and awards may be granted to the

directors, officers, employees, agents and consultants of the

Company or any subsidiaries. Under the terms of the Plan,

the number of shares available for issuance is equal to 10 %

of the Company’s outstanding common stock. Unless previ-

ously terminated by the Board of Directors, the Plan will ter-

minate on September 1, 2006.

All options have been granted at exercise prices greater

than or equal to the estimated fair value of the underlying

stock at the date of grant. Outstanding options vest over four

years and expire ten years after the date of grant. The follow-

ing table summarizes option activity under the 1996 Plan for

2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively:

Note 9.  Stock Option Plan

2000 1999 1998

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding at the beginning of year 357,720 $10.16 384,060 $13.37 557,472 $15.22
Granted 249,500 3.74 119,000 6.94 148,000 9.38
Exercised (10,000) 1.26 (3,750) 1.67 (300,582) 14.51
Canceled (55,310) 7.57 (141,590) 16.39 (20,830) 18.00

Outstanding at the end of year 541,910 $ 7.63 357,720 $10.16 384,060 $13.37
Exercisable at the end of year 184,745 $11.63 141,890 $11.10 61,685 $15.70
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On January 1, 2001, the Company and its founders

entered into a series of transactions, which resulted in a sig-

nificant modification of the transactions described above.

The founders returned the 289,332 shares of common stock

acquired in 1998 and the Company cancelled the related

non-recourse debt. Additionally, the Company purchased

the voting common stock of NFI Holding Corporation from

the founders for $370,000. As a result, effective January 1,

2001, NFI Holding Corporation became a wholly-owned

subsidiary of the Company. The Company also repurchased

the 72,222 shares acquired by the founders in 1997, paying

$271,000. 

The founders used the $641,000 received from the sale of

NFI Holding Corporation and Company common stock to

repay a portion of their obligations described above. The

remaining obligations, aggregating $1,393,000 have been

rewritten into new non-recourse, non interest-bearing 

promissory notes. Those notes will be forgiven and charged

to expense in equal installments over 10 years as long as the

Company employs the founders on December 31st of each

year. The notes will be forgiven in full in the event of a

change in control. The founders have each pledged 72,222

shares of common stock as collateral for these loans.

Activity subsequent to December 31, 2000 can be summa-

rized as follows (in thousands):

Balance of forgivable notes,

December 31, 2000 $ 6,374
Cash received from founders (641)
Return of shares subject

to non-recourse notes (4,340)
Balance of forgivable notes, January 1, 2001 $ 1,393
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Pursuant to a resolution of the Company’s compensation

committee of the Board of Directors dated December 21,

1999, the exercise price for 104,000 stock options issued to

employees was decreased to $7.00. These options are included

in the granted and canceled amounts during 1999 in the

table above. Of these, 69,000 were issued originally in 1997

with an exercise price of $18.00 per common share and

35,000 were issued in 1998 at an exercise price of $17.01

per share. No changes were made to the vesting periods or

expiration dates. The market price of the Company’s stock

was below the adjusted exercise price of the options as of the

adjustment date and through December 31, 2000.

T h e re f o re, no compensation expense was re c o rded. If the price

of the Company’s stock exceeds $7.00 per share in future

periods, the Company will re c o rd compensation expense.

Certain options granted during 2000, 1999 and 1998

were granted with DERs. Under the terms of the DERs, a

recipient is entitled to receive additional shares of stock upon

the exercise of options. The DERs accrue at a rate equal to

the number of options outstanding times the dividends per

share amount at each dividend date. The accrued DERs

convert to shares based on the stock’s fair value on the

dividend declaration date. Certain of the options exercised

in 2000, 1999 and 1998 had DERs attached to them. As a

result of these exercises, an additional 838, 104 and 641

shares of common stock were issued in 2000, 1999 and

1998, respectively. As discussed in Note 8, the Company’s

two founders exercised options to acquire 289,332 shares of

common stock in 1998, which were returned to the Company

subsequent to December 31, 2000.

The following table presents information on stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2000.

Outstanding Exercisable

Weighted

Average Weighted Weighted

Remaining Average Average

Contractual Exercise Exercise

Exercise Price Quantity Life (years) Price Quantity Price

$0.01 –  $3.75 258,250 9.82 $3.68 8,750 $2.14
$5.88 –  7.00 171,000 7.57 6.68 92,750 6.72
$18.00 –  $20.81 112,660 6.87 18.12 83,245 18.08

541,910 8.50 $7.63 184,745 $11.63

In accordance with accounting principles generally accept-

ed in the United States of America, the Company has chosen

to not record the fair value of stock options at their grant

date. If the expense had been recorded the Company’s dilut-

ed earnings (loss) per share for the three years ended

December 31, 2000 would have been $0.49, $(1.10), and

$(2.72). The following table summarizes the weighted aver-

age fair value of the granted options, determined using the

Black-Scholes option pricing model and the assumptions

used in their determination.

2000 1999 1998
Weighted average:

Fair value $2.63 $2.39 $4.47
Expected life in years 7 7 7
Annual risk-free interest rate 5.1% 6.0% 5.1%
Volatility 3.5 4.1 4.0
Dividend yield 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%



Under the terms of loan servicing agreements, NovaStar

Mortgage services loans owned by the Company. Individual

agreements have been executed for each pool of loans serving

as collateral for the Company’s ABB.

During 1998, the Company and NovaStar Mortgage were

parties to a mortgage loan purchase and sale agreement.

Under the terms of the agreement, the Company purchased

mortgage loans originated by NovaStar Mortgage at prices

that varied with the nature and terms of the underlying

mortgage loans. The agreement was modified effective

January 1, 1998 to include a purchase commitment fee. If

NovaStar Mortgage chose to retain the mortgage loans it

originated or sold them to third parties, it paid a fee to the

Company for not delivering its loan production under the

purchase commitment. During 1998, NovaStar Mortgage

originated loans with a principal amount of $870 million, of

which the Company acquired $541 million.

Under the terms of an administrative outsourcing services

agreement, the Company paid NovaStar Mortgage a fee for

providing certain services, including the development of loan

products and information systems, underwriting, funding,

and quality control. The agreement was terminated effective

March 31, 1999.

Effective April 1, 1999, the Company entered an inter-

company loan and guarantee agreement with NovaStar

Mortgage. Under the terms of this agreement, NovaStar

Mortgage pays interest on amounts it borrows from the

Company. As of December 31, 2000 and 1999, NovaStar

Mortgage had $2,729,000 and $27,663,000 in borrowings

from the Company outstanding, respectively. Interest on the

borrowings accrues at the Federal funds rate plus 1.75%. In

addition, NovaStar Mortgage is required to pay guaranty fees

in the amount 0.25% of the loans sold by NovaStar Mortgage

for which the Company has guaranteed the performance of

NovaStar Mortgage.

Effective July 1, 2000, NovaStar Mortgage entered into

intercompany agreements with the Company to recognize the

value of the credit enhancement support that the financial

position of NovaStar Financial lends to NovaStar Mortgage.

These agreements include a loan servicing support, a financ-

ing commitment, a residual repurchase commitment and a

guaranty spread agreement. In addition, the Company

entered into a securitization consulting agreement whereby

NovaStar Mortgage pays a fee to the Company for expertise

in negotiating and coordinating the securitization transac-

tions executed by Novastar Mortgage. Fees for these agree-

ments are based on transaction volumes.
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The Company has elected to be taxed as a REIT and

accordingly has deducted for income tax purposes, all divi-

dends paid on its common and preferred stock. Because the

Company has paid or will pay dividends in amounts approxi-

mating its taxable income or has incurred net operating loss-

es, no provision for income taxes has been provided in the

accompanying financial statements.

Note 10.  Income Taxes 

In the normal course of its business, the Company is sub-

ject to various legal proceedings and claims, the resolution of

which, in the opinion of management, will not have a mate-

rial adverse effect on the Company's financial condition or

results of operations.

Note 11.  Commitments and Contingencies 

Note 12.  Transactions With and Condensed Financial Statements of NFI Holding Corporation and Subsidiaries
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Following are the condensed consolidated balance sheets and statements of operations of NFI Holding Corporation (in thousands):

NFI Holding Corporation

Condensed Consolidated Balances Sheets

December 31,

2000 1999

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,242 $ 1,466
Mortgage loans 78,812 107,916
Other assets 11,764 10,061

Total assets $  91,818 $119,443
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

Liabilities:

Borrowings $ 36,900 $ 78,448
Due to NovaStar Financial, Inc. 37,316 22,161
Accounts payable and other liabilities 9,421 11,787

Total liabilities 83,637 112,396
Stockholders' equity 8,181 7,047

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $  91,818 $119,443
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Following is a summary of the fees paid to (received from) NovaStar Mortgage (in thousands).

Year Ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998
Amounts paid to NovaStar Mortgage:

Loan servicing fees $ 2,502 $ 3,886 $ 3,803
Administrative fees $ 625 $ 1,258 $ 7,800
Amounts received from NovaStar Mortgage:

Intercompany interest income (395) (1,113) —
Guaranty, commitment, loan sale and securitization fees (2,711) — (5,117)

$(2,481) $ 145 $ 2,683

NFI Holding Corporation

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year Ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998

Interest income $14,485 $11,473 $ 11,812

Interest expense 8,211 5,942 7,501

Net interest income 6,274 5,531 4,311
Provision for credit losses 174 860 210

Net interest income after provision for credit losses 6,100 4,671 4,101
Other income:

Fees from third parties 9,908 905 2,829
Fees received from, net of paid to, NovaStar 

Financial, Inc. 21 4,031 6,486
Net gain on sales of mortgage assets 14,793 11,767 3,148

Total other income 24,722 16,703 12,463
General and administrative expenses 29,689 21,285 19,579

Net income (loss) $  1,133 $      89 $(3,015)



The following stock options and warrants to purchase

shares of common stock were outstanding during each period

presented, but were not included in the computation of

diluted earnings per share because the exercise price was

greater than the average market price of the common shares

for the periods presented, therefore, the effect would be

antidilutive:

Year Ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998
Number of stock

options and warrants

(in thousands) 5,706 4,700 245
Weighted average 

exercise price $9.97 $11.21 $17.92

Note 14.  Condensed Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)

Following is condensed consolidated quarterly operating results for the Company (in thousands, except per share amounts):

2000 Quarters 1999 Quarters

First Second Third Fourth First Second Third Fourth

Net interest income $3,114 $2,835 $2,151 $2,612 $6,341 $5,447 $4,489 $3,678
Provision for credit losses 1,579 1,213 1,212 1,445 2,299 3,566 5,634 10,579
Net income (loss) 1,212 146 1,978 2,290 1,726 1,845 (1,537) (9,126)
Dividends on preferred stock 525 525 525 525 31 525 525 525
Net income (loss) available

to common shareholders 686 (379) 1,453 1,765 1,695 1,320 (2,062) (9,651)
Basic earnings (loss) per share 0.09 (0.05) 0.21 0.29 0.21 0.16 (0.25) (1.25)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share 0.09 (0.05) 0.18 0.22 0.20 0.15 (0.25) (1.25)
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Year Ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998

Numerator:

Net income (loss) $5,626 $(7,092) $(21,821)
Preferred stock dividends (2,100) (1,606) —

Income (loss) available to common 

stockholders -basic 3,526 (8,698) (21,821)
Preferred stock dividends 2,100 — —

Income (loss) available to common 

stockholders -diluted $5,626 $(8,698) $(21,821)
Denominator:

Weighted average common

shares outstanding -basic 6,851 8,032 8,057
Convertible preferred stock 4,286 — —

Stock options 6 — —

Warrants — — —

Weighted average common

shares outstanding - dilutive 11,143 8,032 8,057
Basic earnings (loss) per share $  0.51 $  (1.08) $   (2.71)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $  0.50 $  (1.08) $   (2.71)

Note 13. Earnings Per Share

The computations of basic and diluted EPS computations for

the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 are as

follows (in thousands except, per share amounts):



Independent Auditors' Report

The Board of Directors 

NovaStar Financial, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NovaStar Financial, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December

31, 2000 and 1999 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the

years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2000. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the

Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are

free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in

the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by man-

agement, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis

for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of NovaStar Financial, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and 1999 and the results of their operations and

their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2000 in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America.

Kansas City, Missouri

February 9, 2001
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Note 15. Subsequent Events.

As a result of the transaction discussed in Note 8 above, the

Company owns 100% of the outstanding common shares of

NFI Holding Corporation as of January 1, 2001. A pro

forma condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December

31, 2000, reflecting the results of those transactions is as

follows (in thousands):

NovaStar Financial, Inc.

Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet

(unaudited)

December 31,

2000

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,760
Mortgage assets 498,294
Other assets 39,120

Total assets $ 541,174
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

Liabilities:

Borrowings $ 419,336
Accounts payable and other liabilities 13,549

Total liabilities 432,885
Stockholders' equity 108,289

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 541,174



Registrar and Transfer Agent

UMB Bank N.A.

928 Grand Boulevard

13th Floor

Kansas City, Missouri 64106

8 1 6 . 8 6 0 . 7 7 8 6

Stock Information. Our common stock is listed

on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the

symbol "NFI". Following are the high and low stock

prices (as reported by the NYSE) and cash dividends

for the quarterly periods

of 1999 and 2000.

Pe r i o d H i g h L o w D i v i d e n d

1 9 9 9 :

January 1 – March 31 7 . 2 5 5 . 6 3 —
April 1 – June 30 7 . 0 6 5 . 6 3 —
July 1 – September 30 6 . 5 0 3 . 1 3 —
October 1 – December 31 3 . 7 5 2 . 6 3 —

2 0 0 0 :

January 1 – March 31 4 . 3 8 3 . 1 3 —
April 1 – June 30 4 . 1 9 2 . 9 4 —
July 1 – September 30 4 . 0 6 2 . 9 4 —
October 1 – December 31 4 . 2 5 3 . 6 3 —

Filings with the Securities and Exchange

Commission (SEC). A copy of filings we

have made with the Securities and Exchange

Commission (SEC), including our 2000 annual

filing on Form 10-K, may be obtained through

our web site (www.enovastar.com)

or by contacting us dire c t l y .

NovaStar Financial, Inc.

Investor Relations

1901 West 47th Place, Suite 105

Westwood, Kansas 66205

9 1 3 . 5 1 4 . 3 5 0 0

E-mail ir@novastar1. c o m

Annual Meeting

10:00 a.m. May 24, 2001

NovaStar Financial, Inc.

C o r p o rate Offices

1901 West 47th Place, Suite 100

Westwood, Kansas 66205

9 1 3 . 5 1 4 . 3 5 0 0

Independent Accountants

KPMG LLP

Kansas City, Missouri

C o u n s e l

Tobin & To b i n

San Fra n c i s c o

Stinson, Mag & Fi z z e l l

Kansas City, Missouri

Jeffers, Shaff & Falk, LLP

Irvine, California

i n f o r m a t i o n

c o r p o r a t e
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